### **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

W. Brian Dalton

Date

## DNA Damage During Mitotic Arrest: A Novel, p53-Regulated Source of Structural Chromosome Instability in Human Cells

By

W. Brian Dalton Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Program in Biochemistry, Cell, and Developmental Biology

> Vincent W. Yang, M.D., Ph.D. Advisor

> > Anita Corbett, Ph.D. Committee Member

Paul Doetsch, Ph.D. Committee Member

Dean Jones, Ph.D. Committee Member

David Pallas, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School

Date

## DNA Damage During Mitotic Arrest: A Novel, p53-Regulated Source of Structural Chromosome Instability in Human Cells

By

W. Brian Dalton B.A., Dartmouth College, 1997

Advisor: Vincent W. Yang, M.D., Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Emory University In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Program in Biochemistry, Cell, and Developmental Biology Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

#### Abstract

# DNA Damage During Mitotic Arrest: A Novel, p53-Regulated Source of Structural Chromosome Instability in Human Cells

#### By W. Brian Dalton

Mitosis is the process whereby a cell divides to produce two identical copies of itself. One mechanism which ensures that these copies are identical is the mitotic checkpoint. This safeguard works by preventing division until all chromosomes have achieved proper attachment to mitotic spindles. In cancer cells, mitosis—and the mitotic checkpoint—are frequently disturbed. One way this occurs is through prolonged activation of the checkpoint. Increasingly, evidence indicates that prolongation of mitosis may be a cause, rather than just a consequence, of tumorigenesis. At the same time, antimitotic chemotherapeutics are used to deliberately prolong mitosis, which, when severe, can be cytotoxic to cancer cells. Thus, prolongation of mitosis appears to play important roles in the biology of both the formation and treatment of cancer. Despite identification of these roles, our knowledge of the mechanisms underlying them remains limited. In this dissertation, we present evidence that during mitotic arrest, human cells acquire DNA damage which subsequently manifests, in a p53-dependent manner, as structural chromosome aberrations. These findings thus describe a novel source of DNA damage in human cells, suggest that prolonged mitosis may promote tumorigenesis and antimitotic toxicity through infliction of DNA damage, and propose a novel anticancer role for the p53 tumor suppressor.

# DNA Damage During Mitotic Arrest: A Novel, p53-Regulated Source of Structural Chromosome Instability in Human Cells

By

W. Brian Dalton B.A., Dartmouth College, 1997

Advisor: Vincent W. Yang, M.D., Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Emory University In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Program in Biochemistry, Cell, and Developmental Biology Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I'd like to thank my advisor, Vincent Yang. His guidance, patience, scientific incisiveness, and strong leadership have expertly led me through the process of learning to formulate and test hypotheses. He has also given me the unique opportunity to branch out into new territory as a graduate student, and I am thankful for his enthusiasm, encouragement, and support in this exploration. Moreover, Dr. Yang sets a wonderful professional and personal example as a physician, scientist, and colleague. Thank you, Vince.

I am also grateful to my committee members, Anita Corbett, Paul Doetsch, Dean Jones, and David Pallas, for their guidance, valuable feedback, and helpful ideas. Dr. Corbett, for her strategic insights and help with navigating the challenging terrain of graduate school. Dr. Doetsch, for his immense expertise and superb analytical help. Dr. Jones, for his wise advice and encouragement. And particularly Dr. Pallas, who has always made time to meet with me to discuss strategy, help with experiments, provide encouragement, and present an example that I hope to follow in the years ahead.

Thanks to the members of the Yang Lab, including Mandayam Nandan, Bing Yu, Sengthong Chanchevalap, Beth McConnell, James Du, Amr Ghaleb, and Agnieszka Bialkowska. A special thanks to Dr. Nigel Killeen for introducing me to the practice of science, and taking a chance on someone who knew so little. Thanks, too, to other friends and colleagues in science and medicine: Mario DiGirolamo, Kenny Offermann, Carlos Moreno, Christa Lese Martin, Craig Woodward, Homayoon Koushafar, Natalya Degtyareva, Holger Bastians, Jocelyn Lee, Howard Rees, Ryan Moore, Branch Craige, Adrian Puttgen, Gus Davis, Andrew Page, Andrew Markowski, and Brandon Khort. I am grateful to my parents, Marcy and Jack Dalton, for providing love, support, and encouragement during the challenges of graduate school and all the rest of my life. Many thanks, too, to the rest of my family: Michael Dalton, Martha Dalton, Allison Dalton, Kate Todrys, Eric Todrys, Bob Wiltenburg, Candace O'Connor, Martha Egan, Ted Egan, Helen Cassin, and others.

Finally, and most importantly, thanks to my wife, Mary Wiltenburg, whose love and understanding, both scientific (artifact = bad) and otherwise, have made the years of graduate school not only manageable, but also happy.

# **Table of Contents**

<u>P</u>	age
neral Introduction	_ 1
Mitosis is frequently abnormal in cancer cells	_ 2
The mitotic checkpoint	_ 3
Weakening of the mitotic checkpoint in cancer cells	_ 4
Prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint in cancer cells	_ 6
Cell fate after mitotic arrest	10
p53 and the postmitotic response	12
Antimitotic chemotherapy and the mitotic checkpoint	16
Goals of this Dissertation	17
Figure 1. The five phases of mitosis	19
Figure 2. The mitotic checkpoint	20
Figure 3. Cancer-associated causes of prolonged mitotic checkpoint activation.	22
Figure 4. Cell fates following mitotic arrest	23
uman Cancer Cells Commonly Acquire DNA Damage During Mitotic Arrest	24
Abstract	25
Introduction	25
Materials and Methods	26
Results and Discussion	28
Figure 1. $\gamma$ -H2AX foci accumulate during drug-induced mitotic arrest in HCT116 cell	s. 35
Figure 2. γ-H2AX foci acquired during mitotic arrest arise independently of cell death HCT116 cells	in 37
Figure 3. HCT116 cells released from mitotic arrest harbor chromosome aberrations.	39
Figure 4. Prometaphase elevation of γ-H2AX in HCT116 cells occurs both upon knockdown of CENP-E and in untreated cells with spontaneous spindle defects.	. 40
Supplementary Methods	42
Supplementary Table. Quantification of chromosome aberrations	43
Supplementary Figure S1. Nocodazole induces transient mitotic arrest in HCT116 cell	ls. 44
Supplementary Figure S2. Nocodazole does not induce γ-H2AX foci in premitotic HCT116 cells.	45
Supplementary Figure S3. Prophase HCT116 cells with spindle abnormalities do not contain elevated γ-H2AX.	47

Supplementary Figure S4. Acquisition of γ-H2AX foci of occurrence in human cell lines.	during mitotic arrest is a comn
Supplementary Figure S5. Anti-γ-H2AX antibody recog cells	nizes a single protein in HCT1
p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability follow cells	ving mitotic arrest in human
Abstract	
Introduction	
Results	
Discussion	
Materials and methods	
Figure 1 Both p53+/+ and p53-/- HCT116 cells acquire arrest.	DNA damage during mitotic
Figure 2 p53 inhibits the polyploidization and survival prolonged mitotic arrest	of HCT116 cells following
Figure 3 p53 knockdown phenocopies the response of <b>j</b>	p53-/- cells to nocodazole
Figure 4 p53 suppresses structural chromosome instab HCT116 cells	ility following mitotic arrest in
Figure 5 Polyploidization through inhibition of cytokin DNA damage or p53-dependent postmitotic response	nesis does not elicit significant
Figure 6 p53 suppresses polyploidization and structura following mitotic arrest in IMR90 human diploid fibrob	al chromosome instability lasts (HDFs)
Figure 7 p53 suppresses the frequency of, and structur spontaneous polyploid HCT116 cells.	al chromosome instability in,
Supplementary Figure S1 Cells staining entirely negative nuclear morphology.	ve for MPM-2 have apoptotic
Supplementary Figure S2 Chromosome pulverization o treated HDFs	occurs in a fraction of nocodaze
Supplementary Figure S3 p53 knockdown does not infl arrest in HDFs	uence cell death following mite
Supplementary Figure S4 Mitosis is spontaneously prol which fail to divide.	longed in <i>p53<sup>-/-</sup></i> HCT116 cells
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Future Directions	
Figure 1. Working model for the consequences of DNA	damage during mitotic arrest.
References	

# **Chapter I**

# **General Introduction**

W. Brian Dalton<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Digestive Diseases, Department of Medicine, and <sup>2</sup>Graduate Program in Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30322

### Mitosis is frequently abnormal in cancer cells

Mitosis is the process whereby a eukaryotic cell divides to produce two identical copies of itself (Figure 1). Many things must go right for this process to succeed. During prophase, chromosomes must begin to condense and centrosomes must move to opposite poles of the cell. Nuclear envelope disassembly marks the beginning of prometaphase, during which mitotic spindles must capture and congress chromosomes to the equator of the cell. Once this equatorial congression is complete, the cell is said to be in metaphase. In anaphase, sister chromatids must separate and egress to opposite poles of the cell. Finally, in telophase, chromosomes must decondense, the nuclear membrane must reassemble, and the cell must cleave itself into two "daughter" cells. With so much that must go right in mitosis, it follows that many things can also go wrong (Dalton & Yang, 2007; Kops et al, 2005). Indeed, during the century since the German pathologist David von Hansemann first described abnormal mitotic figures in human tumors (von Hansemann, 1890), it has become clear that cancer is a disease in which things frequently go wrong in mitosis (Dalton & Yang, 2007; Kops et al, 2005; Therman & Kuhn, 1989). More recently, studies have indicated that rather than being a mere secondary consequence of the transformation process, abnormal mitosis can play a causative role in tumorigenesis (Ganem et al. 2007; Kops et al. 2005; Weaver & Cleveland, 2006). At the same time, a class of drugs used widely in the chemotherapeutic treatment of cancer—the antimitotics—exert their toxicity by directly disrupting mitosis (Jackson et al, 2007; Rieder & Maiato, 2004; Weaver & Cleveland, 2005). Thus, disruption of mitosis appears to play important roles in the biology of both the formation and treatment of cancer. Despite identification of these roles, our knowledge of the mechanisms underlying them

remains limited (Kops et al, 2005; Rieder & Maiato, 2004; Weaver & Cleveland, 2006). Thus, greater insight into the causes and consequences of abnormal mitosis should contribute to our understanding not only of cell biology, but also of tumorigenesis and chemotherapy.

### The mitotic checkpoint

By casting chromosomes loose into the cytoplasm in order to be found, captured, and congressed by mitotic spindles, the prometaphase cell introduces an interesting problem for accurate segregation of chromosomes. Namely, given that searching and capturing of chromosomes by mitotic spindles is a stochastic process that is bound to vary in length from one mitosis to the next, how does the cell know when it has completed this process and is, thereby, ready for anaphase? The answer is that eukaryotic cells have evolved an elegant mechanism which monitors the attachments of chromosomes to mitotic spindles and then communicates the status of these attachments to a protein complex which controls entry into anaphase (Figure 2) (Kops et al, 2005; Rieder et al, 1995; Rieder & Maiato, 2004). This surveillance mechanism is known as the mitotic, or spindle assembly, checkpoint (Kops et al, 2005; Rieder & Maiato, 2004). Since the initial discovery of the Bub and Mad family of genes in yeast genetic screens, nearly a dozen genes involved in mitotic checkpoint function have been identified in a range of different organisms (Kops et al, 2005; Rieder & Maiato, 2004). Some of the protein products of these genes, such as Bub1, Mad2, CENP-E and others, interact directly with the proteinaceous center of the chromosome to which mitotic spindles attach, known as the kinetochore (Figure 2a) (Kops et al, 2005). If the kinetochore is

unattached to mitotic spindles, some of these checkpoint proteins are activated, form a diffusible protein complex, and sequester CDC20 (Figure 2a) (Kops et al, 2005). This sequestration inhibits the anaphase promoting complex (APC), whose activity is required for the degradation of cyclin B and securin (Figure 2a) (Kops et al, 2005; Rieder & Maiato, 2004). Cyclin B is required for the function of the master mitotic regulator CDK1, whose activity, in turn, maintains the prometaphase/metaphase state, and securin prevents activation of separase, whose activity is required for sister chromatid separation at the onset of anaphase (Kops et al, 2005). Thus, by inhibiting APC-mediated degradation of cyclin B and securin, the mitotic checkpoint prevents anaphase onset when chromosomes remain unattached to mitotic spindles. Once all kinetochores make proper attachments to mitotic spindles, this diffusible "wait anaphase" signal is extinguished, the APC is disinhibited, cyclin B and securin are degraded, and the cell proceeds into anaphase (Figure 2b-c) (Kops et al, 2005). In this way, the mitotic checkpoint prevents entry into anaphase before all chromosomes have stably attached to mitotic spindles, thereby ensuring equal segregation of chromosomes into daughter cells.

#### Weakening of the mitotic checkpoint in cancer cells

Due to the central importance of the mitotic checkpoint in safeguarding the execution of normal mitosis, it is perhaps not surprising that disruption of this mechanism can occur in cancer (Dalton & Yang, 2007; Kops et al, 2005). One such disruption that has received considerable attention is the existence of reduced, or "weakened," checkpoint signaling in cancer cells (Holland & Cleveland, 2008; Yuen & Desai, 2008). Indeed, animal models have provided a compelling proof of principle that mitotic

checkpoint deficiencies can contribute to tumor formation in mammals, as mice expressing reduced levels of the mitotic checkpoint proteins Mad2, Mad1, CENP-E, Bub1, BubR1, and Bub3 exhibit both an impaired ability to delay anaphase in the presence of unattached kinetochores and an increased susceptibility to cancer (Babu et al, 2003; Baker et al, 2004; Dai et al, 2004; Iwanaga et al, 2007; Jeganathan et al, 2007; Michel et al, 2001; Weaver et al, 2007). Although the reasons that such deficiencies encourage tumorigenesis are not fully understood, one causative factor is likely to be the increase in aneuploidy observed in these animals, which may create cancer-promoting genomic imbalances in oncogenes and tumor suppressors (Weaver & Cleveland, 2006; Weaver et al, 2007).

The first evidence that the mitotic checkpoint may be weakened in human cancer came from a 1998 study by Cahill et al, which reported that aneuploid colon cancer cell lines exhibit a defect in their ability to execute mitotic arrest when challenged with antimitotic agents (Cahill et al, 1998). In some of these cell lines, mutations in the mitotic checkpoint genes BubR1 and Bub1 were found, providing a potential explanation for the observed defects (Cahill et al, 1998). Subsequent studies found additional mutations in other mitotic checkpoint genes, including Bub1, BubR1, Mad1, Zw10, and Zwilch, in human tumors (Imai et al, 1999; Nomoto et al, 1999; Sato et al, 2000; Shichiri et al, 2002; Tsukasaki et al, 2001; Wang et al, 2004). Moreover, nonmutational impairment of mitotic checkpoint proteins, including transcriptional repression and inactivating interactions with viral oncoproteins, has also been observed in human tumors (Guardavaccaro et al, 2008; Jeong et al, 2004; Jin et al, 1998; Kim et al, 2008; Shichiri et al, 2002; Wang et al, 2008). Finally, mosaic variegated aneuploidy, a rare human genetic

disease characterized by aneuploidy and cancer predisposition, has been causally linked to germline mutation of the BubR1 mitotic checkpoint gene (Hanks et al, 2004; Matsuura et al, 2006). These studies thus provide evidence that weakened mitotic checkpoint signaling can promote human cancer.

At the same time, there is compelling evidence which disfavors the idea that weakened mitotic checkpoint signaling is a common occurrence in cancer cells. First, although they do exist, mutations in mitotic checkpoint genes are rare in human tumors (Cahill et al, 1999; Jones et al, 2008; Kops et al, 2005; Parsons et al, 2008; Sjoblom et al, 2006; Wang et al, 2008; Wood et al, 2007). Second, data from several studies have now directly challenged the conclusion that the cell lines studied by Cahill et al. actually have impaired mitotic checkpoints (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008; Kaplan et al, 2001; Kasai et al, 2002; Tao et al, 2007; Thompson & Compton, 2008; Tighe et al, 2001). Indeed, elegant timelapse videomicroscopy studies from Thompson et al. and Gascoigne et al. have shown that aneuploidy in these cell lines is attributable to merotelic chromosome-spindle attachments, and not to weakened mitotic checkpoint signaling (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008; Thompson & Compton, 2008). Thus, taken together, these studies indicate that a weakened mitotic checkpoint is not a widespread property of cancer cells, although it may occur in some tumors.

#### Prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint in cancer cells

In addition to exhibiting, albeit infrequently, weakened mitotic checkpoint signaling, cancer cells have also been found to possess abnormalities which prolong activation of this checkpoint (Dalton & Yang, 2007; Rieder & Maiato, 2004; Therman &

Kuhn, 1989). Indeed, it has long been recognized by pathologists that tumors not only possess higher mitotic indices than normal tissue, but also a higher ratio of prometaphase/metaphase to prophase cells (Therman & Kuhn, 1989). Because this ratio should reflect the relative durations of these phases of mitosis, such observations suggested that prometaphase/metaphase is prolonged in cancer cells (Therman & Kuhn, 1989). Subsequently, timelapse videomicroscopy studies revealed that mitosis can indeed be lengthened up to 4-fold in transformed cells, as compared to their normal counterparts (Sisken et al, 1982; Sisken et al, 1985). More recently, Yang et al. have confirmed these initial findings and further demonstrated that the prolongation is dependent on mitotic checkpoint signaling (Yang et al, 2008). Thus, cancer cells commonly possess defects which lengthen mitosis by delaying satisfaction of the mitotic checkpoint.

What defects might prolong mitosis in cancer cells? Although knowledge is still relatively limited on this subject, several causes have been described (Figure 3). Inactivation of the Rb tumor suppressor has been shown to transcriptionally induce supranormal expression of the mitotic checkpoint protein Mad2, which in turn causes prolonged prometaphase by directly inhibiting the anaphase promoting complex (Hernando et al, 2004; Sotillo et al, 2007). Analogously, inactivation of the hCDC4 tumor suppressor decreases the degradation of cyclin E, whose abnormal accumulation also lengthens mitosis through inhibition of the APC (Keck et al, 2007; Rajagopalan et al, 2004). Activation of the c-Myc oncogene, too, has been reported to delay prometaphase through supranormal transactivation of the Mad2 and BubR1 mitotic checkpoint proteins (Menssen et al, 2007). Another intriguing example is that of Shwachman-Diamond syndrome, an inherited human disease characterized by leukemia predisposition (Austin

et al, 2008). This disease results from recessive mutation of the SBDS gene, whose inactivation results in destabilization of the mitotic spindle and, thus, prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint (Austin et al, 2008). Finally, Yang et al. found that mitotic prolongation can result from the simple presence of extra chromosomes and/or centrosomes, a common feature of cancer cells (Yang et al, 2008). By extension, processes which create supernumerary chromosomes and/or centrosomes, such as polyploidization and centrosome overduplication, can also be thought of as increasing the frequency of prolonged mitosis. Thus, multiple mechanisms can delay timely satisfaction of the mitotic checkpoint in cancer cells.

At this point, it is important to consider whether prolonged mitosis might be a causative factor in, rather than simply a secondary consequence of, tumorigenesis. Although inactivation of the Rb and hCDC4 tumor suppressors, along with activation of oncogenic c-Myc, are common contributors to human cancers (Jones et al, 2008; Parsons et al, 2008; Sjoblom et al, 2006; Wood et al, 2007), prolongation of mitosis is only one of many potentially oncogenic phenotypes created by these gene changes. Likewise, although polyploidization has been shown to promote tumorigenesis (Duelli et al, 2007; Fujiwara et al, 2005; Mazumdar et al, 2006; Roh et al, 2008), the induction of prolonged mitosis through supernumerary chromosomes and/or centrosomes is also only one of many potentially oncogenic properties of polyploid cells. For these reasons, a recent study by Sotillo et al. is of particular importance (Sotillo et al, 2007). In it, the authors show that isolated overexpression of Mad2, the downstream effecter of Rb inactivation responsible for prolonged mitosis, can itself induce dramatic incidences of spontaneous tumors in mice. This result thus provides a compelling proof-of-principle that prolonged

activation of the mitotic checkpoint can directly promote tumorigenesis. Whether this tumorigenicity occurs for other conditions in which mitosis is prolonged remains to be determined.

Why might prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint be oncogenic? One explanation is that by disrupting the normal sequence of events in mitosis, prolonged checkpoint activation increases the frequency of chromosome missegregation and cell division failure, leading to aneuploidy and polyploidy, respectively (Pellman, 2007; Sotillo et al, 2007; van Deursen, 2007). Indeed, this occurs in Mad2-overexpressing mice, which develop an euploidy and polyploidy, as well as cancer (Sotillo et al, 2007). Aneuploidy and polyploidy, as mentioned previously, can themselves promote tumorigenesis (Duelli et al, 2007; Fujiwara et al, 2005; Mazumdar et al, 2006; Roh et al, 2008; Weaver et al. 2007). However, an euploidy does not always promote cancer (Babu et al, 2003; Baker et al, 2004; Baker et al, 2006; Jeganathan et al, 2006), and in some contexts it can actually suppress tumorigenesis (Weaver et al, 2007). Thus, it is possible that other, or additional, factors may contribute to the tumorigenicity of prolonged mitotic checkpoint activation. Interestingly, mice overexpressing Mad2 exhibited not only aneuploidy, but also evidence of significant structural chromosome alterations, indicating an increase in spontaneous DNA damage (Sotillo et al, 2007). Inactivation of the hCDC4 tumor suppressor, too, produced not only prolonged mitosis and aneuploidy, but also evidence of structural DNA damage (Rajagopalan et al, 2004). A similar effect was seen with activation of the c-Myc oncogene (Menssen et al, 2007). Furthermore, inactivation of the KIF4A mitotic motor protein, while not a phenomenon yet investigated in human cancer, can nonetheless elicit prolonged mitosis, spontaneous tumors, and DNA damage

in a mouse model (Mazumdar et al, 2006; Mazumdar et al, 2004). Finally, Wong and Stearns reported that human cells which had been presynchronized with doublethymidine and nocodazole later possessed foci of  $\gamma$ -H2AX (Wong & Stearns, 2005), the phosphorylated form of histone H2AX which forms around sites of double-stranded DNA breaks (Rogakou et al, 1999). Taken together, these studies raised, in our minds, the intriguing possibility that prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint might induce DNA damage. If true, such a phenomenon could provide an additional explanation for why prolonged mitosis might promote cancer, given the well-established role of DNA damage in tumorigenesis (van Gent et al, 2001). We thus endeavored to test this hypothesis, and the study described in Chapter II presents our novel evidence that prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint can indeed provoke DNA damage in human cells.

#### Cell fate after mitotic arrest

Vital to an understanding of the consequences of prolonged mitotic arrest is an understanding of cell fate after the arrest (Rieder & Maiato, 2004). As it turns out, several possible fates can befall cells that endure prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint (Figure 4) (Weaver & Cleveland, 2005). First, cells may eventually complete cell division after a mitotic delay. Such divisions are frequently accompanied by missegregation of chromosomes, thereby leading to aneuploidy (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008; Hernando et al, 2004; Rajagopalan et al, 2004; Sotillo et al, 2007; Thompson & Compton, 2008). Second, cells can undergo "mitotic slippage," a process whereby mitotic cells return to interphase without completing anaphase (Rieder & Maiato, 2004;

Weaver & Cleveland, 2005). Because in this case cell division does not occur, the resulting interphase cells, which are often referred to as "postmitotic," will possess twice the normal number of chromosomes, making them tetraploid (Rieder & Maiato, 2004). After either of these first two fates, cells will then realize one of three additional fates: continuation of the cell cycle, cell death, or cell cycle arrest (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008; Rieder & Maiato, 2004; Weaver & Cleveland, 2005). Finally, a third fate following prolonged checkpoint activation is mitotic cell death, where cells die directly from the mitotic state (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008; Rieder & Maiato, 2004; Weaver & Cleveland, 2005).

What determines which of these fates a cell will meet? Gascoigne and Taylor have shown that the answer to this question is surprisingly complex, as both genetic and nongenetic factors create profound variation in the fates of cells following prolonged mitotic arrest (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008). Amid this complexity, however, these authors provide evidence that the first fate decision point—whether a cell will exit from, or die in, prolonged mitosis—is controlled by stochastic competition between progressive degradation of cyclin B and progressive activation of a caspase-dependent death pathway (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008; Holland & Cleveland, 2008). If cyclin B is degraded to a critical threshold level first, the mitotic cell will undergo slippage or, if possible, cell division; if activation of caspase-dependent cell death reaches a critical threshold first, the cell will die in mitosis. Although a plausible explanation for the progressive degradation of cyclin B during mitotic arrest is "leaky" activity of the anaphase promoting complex (Brito & Rieder, 2006), the mechanisms responsible for progressive activation of a mitotic cell death pathway are unknown (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008;

Holland & Cleveland, 2008). Interestingly, Gascoigne and Taylor proposed that the death signal may be influenced by the accumulation of DNA damage in cells undergoing prolonged mitosis (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008). The results of our study, described in Chapter II, lend support to this proposal.

#### p53 and the postmitotic response

For those cells which exit from, rather than die in, prolonged mitotic arrest, knowledge of the determinants of their subsequent fates is rather limited (Holland & Cleveland, 2008; Rieder & Maiato, 2004; Weaver & Cleveland, 2005). However, there is one node of regulation which has been characterized in several cell systems: control of the decision between postmitotic cell cycle arrest and continuation of the cell cycle by the tumor suppressor p53 (Figure 4) (Stukenberg, 2004). The initial evidence that p53 regulates the fate of cells following mitotic arrest came from Cross et al., who in 1995 discovered that treatment of p53-/- MEFs with the antimitotic agents nocodazole and colchicine resulted in significant polyploidization, compared to p53+/+ MEFs (Cross et al, 1995). Although initially proposed to result from an early exit from mitotic arrest (Cross et al, 1995), this inhibition of polyploidization was subsequently shown to result from p53-dependent imposition of growth arrest in postmitotic cells which had undergone mitotic slippage (Lanni & Jacks, 1998; Minn et al, 1996). Since these initial reports, additional studies have observed this p53-dependent "postmitotic response" in mouse and human cells cultured from numerous tissues of origin (Andreassen et al, 2001; Borel et al, 2002; Di Leonardo et al, 1997; Khan & Wahl, 1998; Vogel et al, 2004). Moreover, biochemical investigations have revealed that elements of the pathway which

are important for the p53-dependent response to DNA damage, such as transcriptional induction of p21, inhibition of cyclin E/cdk2, and hypophosphorylation of Rb, are also activated and/or required in the postmitotic response (Di Leonardo et al, 1997; Khan & Wahl, 1998; Lanni & Jacks, 1998; Minn et al, 1996; Stewart et al, 1999). Furthermore, studies have presented evidence, albeit indirect, that the postmitotic response is not merely a reaction to the artificial conditions of treating cultured cells with drugs. p53deficient mice, for example, exhibit an increase in spontaneous aneuploidy and polyploidy, and p53-deficient human cells exhibit an increase in spontaneous, as well as genetically-induced, polyploidy (Bellamy et al, 1997; Bunz et al, 2002; Cross et al, 1995; Fujiwara et al, 2005; Harvey et al, 1993; Meraldi et al, 2002; Pantic et al, 2006; Sphyris & Harrison, 2005). Although the mechanisms underlying these spontaneous defects has not been determined, chromosome missegregation and/or mitotic slippage following prolonged mitosis is a plausible explanation, especially since this process has been found to occur spontaneously at low frequency in both transformed and normal cells in culture (Shi & King, 2005). Thus, the p53-dependent induction of growth arrest following prolonged mitotic arrest, like the p53-dependent DNA damage response, appears to be a ubiquitous cell cycle response in mammalian cells.

Why is p53 activated during prolonged mitotic arrest?. Despite several proposed explanations, the answer to this question has remained elusive (Chan et al, 2008; Ganem & Pellman, 2007; Stukenberg, 2004). Although one initial idea was that cells activate p53 upon sensing the presence of tetraploid genomes (Andreassen et al, 2001; Margolis et al, 2003), subsequent studies have shown that polyploid cells created in the absence of prolonged mitosis are not necessarily growth arrested by p53 (Uetake & Sluder, 2004;

Uetake & Sluder, 2007). Therefore, tetraploidy itself does not appear to be the signal for postmitotic arrest (Ganem & Pellman, 2007; Stukenberg, 2004). Another proposal has been that progressive mitotic accumulation of p53 may serve as a molecular "timer" which measures the duration of mitosis, thereby inducing postmitotic arrest in those cells which spend too long—and thus accumulate too much p53—in mitotic arrest (Blagosklonny, 2006). However, other studies have demonstrated that pharmacologic and genetic interventions which dramatically shorten the length of mitotic arrest, such as inhibition of CDK1 activity or reduction of spindle checkpoint proteins, do not diminish the activation of p53 (Chan et al, 2008; Vogel et al, 2004). Moreover, there is evidence that, at least in mouse cells, p53 is activated after, and not during, mitotic arrest (Minn et al, 1996). Thus, a mitotic timer mechanism is unlikely to explain the postmitotic activity of p53.

As previously mentioned, Wong and Stearns found that human cells presynchronized with double-thymidine and nocodazole later possessed foci of  $\gamma$ -H2AX, which raised the intriguing possibility that mitotic arrest might induce DNA damage (Wong & Stearns, 2005). If true, this phenomenon could provide a potential explanation for the mechanism of postmitotic arrest: DNA damage acquired during mitotic arrest activates a p53-dependent DNA damage response in postmitotic cells. Such a mechanism would also provide an explanation for the existence of the postmitotic response: the need to suppress potentially dangerous structural chromosome instability formed during mitotic arrest. Indeed, the study described in Chapter III provides novel evidence to support this idea. At the same time, it is important to note that other, or additional, stimuli may be responsible for p53 activation. Indeed, p53 has been reported to be activated

following a variety of cellular stresses other than DNA damage (Jimenez et al, 1999). Moreover, recent studies have shown that disrupting the function of the centrosome can elicit a p53-dependent G1 arrest (Mikule et al, 2007; Srsen et al, 2006; Uetake et al, 2007), which may be of relevance to p53 activation following mitotic arrest, as signaling at the centrosome has been suggested to regulate this process (Aylon et al, 2006; Ciciarello et al, 2001). Finally, Uetake et al. have shown that, in some contexts, combinations of different cellular stresses, but not each stress alone, can activate p53dependent arrest (Uetake et al, 2007).

A final consideration of the role of p53 in cell fate following mitotic arrest concerns its participation in cell death. Although some studies have found that p53 promotes cell death following prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint (Galmarini et al, 2001; Kienitz et al, 2005; Wu & El-Diery, 1996; Yamaguchi et al, 2004), others have found that p53 is uninvolved in death signaling (Minn et al, 1996; Strobel et al, 1996; Woods et al, 1995). To complicate matters further, another study has found that p53 promotes cell survival, not death, following mitotic arrest (Wahl et al, 1996). The discrepancies between these studies are most likely attributable to cell-type differences in p53 activity, as tissue of origin has been shown to greatly influence the consequences of p53 inactivation (Bunz et al, 2002). Thus, it can be concluded that while the p53dependent imposition of growth arrest following mitotic arrest appears to be a ubiquitous phenomenon, the role of p53 in postmitotic cell death appears to depend on the genetic background of the postmitotic cells.

#### Antimitotic chemotherapy and the mitotic checkpoint

In addition to genetic disruptions which alter elements like the activity of mitotic checkpoint proteins or the number of mitotic spindles, antimitotic drugs can also cause prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint (Jackson et al, 2007; Jordan & Wilson, 2004). Drugs like nocodazole, colchicine, and the vinca alkaloids induce mitotic arrest by destabilizing mitotic spindles (Jordan & Wilson, 2004). Others, like taxanes and epothilones, cause arrest by pathologic stabilization of spindles (Jordan & Wilson, 2004). Moreover, a newer class of agents have been developed which provoke arrest through inhibition of mitotic motor proteins known as kinesins (Jackson et al, 2007). Demonstrating the clinical importance of inducing mitotic arrest, many of these agents are used routinely in cancer chemotherapy, and others are in various stages of clinical trials (Jackson et al, 2007; Jordan & Wilson, 2004).

Although our understanding of how these agents exert their cytotoxicity is incomplete, some general insights into their mechanisms of actions have nonetheless been established (Rieder & Maiato, 2004; Weaver & Cleveland, 2005). First, entry into mitosis is necessary for cytotoxicity, as cells cotreated with antimitotics and agents which prevent entry into mitosis, such as the DNA replication inhibitor aphidicolin or the CDK1 inhibitor purvalanol, are spared from the cell death which occurs upon antimitotic treatment alone (Shi et al, 2008). Second, prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint promotes cell death, as impairment of mitotic checkpoint signaling can reduce the cytotoxicity of antimitotic agents (Chan et al, 2008; Kienitz et al, 2005; Tao et al, 2005). Third, cell death appears to be a form of caspase-dependent apoptosis, as caspase inhibitors can, in most cases, prevent antimitotic-induced cell death (Dalton et al, 2007;

Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008; Rieder & Maiato, 2004; Shi et al, 2008; Tao et al, 2005). Fourth, as mentioned previously, the first cell fate decision following prolonged mitotic arrest—whether the cell dies in, or exits, mitosis—depends on a stochastic competition between progressive degradation of cyclin B and activation of apoptosis during the arrest (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008). Finally, activation of p53 following prolonged mitosis can, in some contexts, impose not only cell cycle arrest, but also cell death, as discussed above. However, a central question regarding antimitotic-induced cell death remains: what triggers the caspase-dependent apoptosis during prolonged mitotic arrest? Although several, non-mutually-exclusive, answers to this question are possible, one explanation is DNA damage acquired during mitotic arrest. The studies described in Chapters II and III provide support for this explanation.

#### **Goals of this Dissertation**

The work presented in this dissertation sought to investigate two ideas relevant to understanding the consequences of prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint. First, we tested the **hypothesis that human cells acquire DNA damage during prolonged mitotic arrest.** To do so, we performed biochemical and cytogenetic measurements of DNA damage after pharmacologic and genetic provocation of mitotic arrest in human cell lines. This investigation revealed that, during mitotic arrest, human cells can indeed acquire DNA damage which occurs independently of cell death, activates a DNA damage response, and subsequently manifests as structural chromosome aberrations. Thus, DNA damage acquired during mitotic arrest represents a novel source of DNA damage in human cells. Moreover, this phenomenon suggests that prolonged mitosis may contribute

to tumorigenesis and/or the toxicity of antimitotic chemotherapy through the induction of DNA damage. This study is the subject of Chapter II.

Due to the importance of p53 in both human cancer and cell fate following prolonged mitotic arrest, we next investigated the role of p53 in determining the consequences of DNA damage acquired during mitotic arrest. Specifically, we tested the **hypothesis that p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest.** To do so, we measured the acquisition and propagation of DNA damage incurred during mitotic arrest in human cells which differ only in their p53 status. This investigation revealed that p53 inhibits the propagation, but not the acquisition, of DNA damage incurred during mitotic arrest. This finding indicates that p53 can function to suppress structural chromosome instability following abnormal mitosis. It also provides supportive evidence to the idea that the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint may be a response to DNA damage incurred during mitotic arrest. This study is the subject of Chapter III.

Taken together, these studies describe a novel, p53-regulated source of structural chromosome instability in human cells: DNA damage during mitotic arrest.



# Figure 1. The five phases of mitosis.

When an interphase cells enters prophase, centrosomes move to opposing poles of the cell and chromosomes begin condensing. In prometaphase, chromosomes are cast loose into the cytoplasm, and mitotic spindles capture and congress these chromosomes to the equator of the cell. Once this congression is complete, the cell is in metaphase. In anaphase, sister chromatids separate and are pulled to opposite poles of the cell. Finally, in telophase, chromosomes decondense, the nuclear membrane reassembles, and the cell undergoes cytokinesis. Adapted from Jackson et al (Jackson et al, 2007).





**a.** In prometaphase, the unattached kinetochore recruits MAD1, MAD2, MPS1, BUB1, BUB3, BUBR1, and CENPE (grey sections, expanded diagram indicated by dashed lines). These components generate the diffusible complex that sequesters CDC20, which is thus prevented from activating the anaphase-promoting complex (APC). Separase, the protease that cleaves the cohesins that hold sister chromatids together, is inhibited by binding to securin. The photograph represents prometaphase in HeLa cells. DNA, stained

with DAPI, is in blue, kinetochores, immunostained with anticentromere antiserum, are in red. **b.** Attachment of mitotic spindles (MT, green) to kinetochores, and the generation of tension by motor proteins, silences the checkpoint signaling complex. The photograph represents metaphase in HeLa cells. **c.** Following silencing of the checkpoint signaling complex, APC/C-mediated ubiquitylation (Ub) of securin and cyclin B1 and subsequent degradation by the proteosome triggers anaphase entry. Turnover of the wait anaphase complex is aided by p31comet/CMT2. The photograph represents anaphase in HeLa cells. Adapted from Kops et al(Kops et al, 2005).



**Figure 3.** Cancer-associated causes of prolonged mitotic checkpoint activation. **a.** Inactivation of the retinoblastoma (Rb) tumor suppressor causes activation of E2F and elevation of Mad2. **b.** Inactivation of the hCDC4 tumor suppressor leads to elevated levels of cyclin E. **c.** Oncogenic c-Myc upregulates the expression of the mitotic checkpoint proteins Mad2 and BubR1. **d.** Inactivation of the SDBS gene causes destabilization of the mitotic spindle in Schwachman-Diamond syndrome. **e.** Cancer cells frequently contain supernumerary chromosomes and/or centrosomes. **f.** Antimitotic drugs are routinely used in cancer chemotherapy. Adapted from Jackson et al. and van Deursen et al (Jackson et al, 2007; van Deursen, 2007).



Figure 4. Cell fates following mitotic arrest.

The first fate decision is between cell division, mitotic slippage, or mitotic cell death. For those cells which exit mitosis, a second fate decision is made between cell cycle arrest, continuation of the cell cycle, or cell death. The p53 tumor suppressor inhibits continuation of the cell cycle and promotes cell cycle arrest or, in some contexts, cell death. Adapted from Weaver et al. (Weaver & Cleveland, 2005).

# **Chapter II**

# Human Cancer Cells Commonly Acquire DNA Damage During Mitotic Arrest

W. Brian Dalton<sup>1,2</sup>, Mandayam O. Nandan<sup>1</sup>, Ryan T. Moore<sup>3</sup>, and Vincent W. Yang<sup>1,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Digestive Diseases, Department of Medicine,
<sup>2</sup>Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology Graduate Program, and
<sup>4</sup>Winship Cancer Institute,
Emory University School of Medicine,
Atlanta, Georgia 30322, U. S. A.
<sup>3</sup>Institute for Quantitative Social Science,
Harvard University,
Cambridge, Massachusetts 02138, U. S. A.

Cancer Research 67, 11487-11492 (2007)

#### Abstract

The mitotic checkpoint is a mechanism which arrests the progression to anaphase until all chromosomes have achieved proper attachment to mitotic spindles. In cancer cells, satisfaction of this checkpoint is frequently delayed or prevented by various defects, some of which have been causally implicated in tumorigenesis. At the same time, deliberate induction of mitotic arrest has proven clinically useful, as antimitotic drugs which interfere with proper chromosome-spindle interactions are effective anticancer agents. However, how mitotic arrest contributes to tumorigenesis or antimitotic drug toxicity is not well defined. Here we report that mitotic chromosomes can acquire DNA breaks during both pharmacologic and genetic induction of mitotic arrest in human cancer cells. These breaks activate a DNA damage response, occur independently of cell death, and subsequently manifest as karyotype alterations. Such breaks can also occur spontaneously, particularly in cancer cells containing mitotic spindle abnormalities. Moreover, we observed evidence of some breakage in primary human cells. Our findings thus describe a novel source of DNA damage in human cells. They also suggest that mitotic arrest may promote tumorigenesis and antimitotic toxicity by provoking DNA damage.

#### Introduction

Mitosis is often abnormal in cancer cells (Rieder & Maiato, 2004). Among the defects observed is frequent prolongation of prometaphase, which can occur when the spindle checkpoint arrests progression to anaphase (Rieder & Maiato, 2004). Several studies have now identified genetic abnormalities which provoke such arrest (Dalton &

Yang, 2007). Some of these, such as loss of hCDC4 or overexpression of Mad2, have been causally implicated in cancer (Rajagopalan et al, 2004; Sotillo et al, 2007). At the same time, antimitotic chemotherapeutics which induce prolonged mitotic arrest and "mitotic slippage," a process whereby prometaphase cells return to interphase without undergoing anaphase, can also elicit subsequent cell death or growth arrest (Rieder & Maiato, 2004). Therefore, evidence suggests that events occurring during mitotic arrest influence tumorigenesis and the toxicity of antimitotic chemotherapy. However, the nature of these events is not well defined (Rieder & Maiato, 2004). Interestingly, Wong and Stearns have shown that human cells which had been pre-synchronized with doublethymidine and the microtubule depolymerizer nocodazole later possessed foci of  $\gamma$ -H2AX, the phosphorylated form of histone H2AX which forms around sites of DNA breaks (Wong & Stearns, 2005). We thus wondered whether DNA breaks might be generated during mitotic arrest in human cancer cells.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### **Cell lines and treatments**

All cell lines were from the ATCC, except BG-1 cells, which were from C. Moreno (Emory University, Atlanta, GA). Cancer cells were cultured in McCoy's and IMR90 cells in DMEM. Cells were seeded at a density of  $3 \times 10^4$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> onto fibronectin-coated dishes or slides 24h prior to experiments. Nocodazole, paclitaxel, and monastrol were used at 200nM, 100nM, and 200µM, respectively, the minimum concentrations which inhibited cell division (data not shown). Q-VD-OPh was used at 50µM, the minimum concentration which inhibited apoptosis (data not shown).  $\gamma$ -irradiation was

performed with a Cs-137 Gammacell. Stealth<sup>™</sup> Select siRNAs targeted to CENP-E, control siRNA, and Lipofectamine RNAiMax<sup>™</sup> were obtained from, and used according to the instructions of, Invitrogen. All analyses were performed 24h following transfection.

### Immunodetection

For immunocytochemistry, cells were fixed with 2% formaldehyde/PBS and permeabilized with -20°C methanol. Antibody incubations were 1h at room temperature, and DNA was counterstained with Hoechst. Images were acquired with a Zeiss Axiovert 100M confocal microscope, except images of cells with spontaneous spindle defects, which were acquired with a Zeiss Axioskop 2 Plus microscope. For flow cytometry, cells were harvested by trypsinization and fixed overnight at -20°C in 70% ethanol. Antibody incubations were 1h at room temperature, and DNA was counterstained with propidium iodide. Data were acquired using a FACSCalibur (Becton-Dickinson) and analyzed with CellQuest. Immunoblotting was performed as previously described (Yoon et al, 2005). Antibodies used and image quantification methodology are detailed in Supplementary Methods, and specificity of the mouse anti- $\gamma$ -H2AX antibody is shown in Supplementary Fig. S5.

#### **Time-lapse imaging**

Phase-contrast images of cells grown inside a 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> chamber were automatically obtained at 6 min intervals in multiple locations using an Olympus IX81 microscope. All images were analyzed with Slidebook.
#### **Cytogenetic analyses**

Chromosome spreads were prepared using standard cytogenetic techniques, DNA was stained with DAPI, and images were obtained using a Zeiss Axioskop 2 Plus microscope. Scoring of chromosome aberrations was performed according to the classification of Savage (Savage, 1976).

#### **Results and Discussion**

To address whether human cancer cells acquire DNA damage during mitotic arrest, we first examined nocodazole-arrested HCT116 colon cancer cells for the presence of  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci. During 36h of treatment, nocodazole produced a transient rise in mitotic index that peaked at 12h and was followed by mitotic slippage (Supplementary Fig. S1). While control prometaphase cells exhibited few  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci, nocodazole-arrested prometaphase cells showed a time-dependent increase in  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci per cell (Fig. 1*A* and *B*). A similar increase was observed after treatment with the microtubule-stabilizer paclitaxel and the Eg5 mitotic kinesin inhibitor monastrol (Fig. 1*A*), indicating that agents which induce mitotic arrest through different mechanisms also induce  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci. Notably, cells exposed to drug treatment, but not yet in mitosis, displayed no increase in  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci (Supplementary Fig. S2), indicating that only cells which have entered mitosis exhibit the response.

We next determined whether these  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci recruit additional proteins involved in the DNA damage response (DDR). However, it has been shown previously in HeLa cells that while  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci form in irradiated mitotic cells, other DDR proteins

are only recruited once cells return to interphase (Huang et al, 2005). As we also observed this lack of DDR protein recruitment in mitotic HCT116 cells (data not shown), we examined cells after 36h of nocodazole treatment, at which point virtually all cells had undergone mitotic slippage (Supplementary Fig. S1). Indeed, these postmitotic cells had increased  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci (Fig. 1*D*) which recruited the DDR proteins 53BP1 and a phospho-activated form of ATM (pATM) (Fig. 1*C*). Thus,  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci acquired during mitotic arrest, like those produced by  $\gamma$ -irradiation, recruit other DDR proteins once cells have exited mitosis.

Pharmacologic induction of mitotic arrest is accompanied by some degree of cell death in most cell lines, and  $\gamma$ -H2AX formation can participate in apoptosis (Lu et al, 2006; Rieder & Maiato, 2004). We thus investigated whether  $\gamma$ -H2AX formed during mitotic arrest represents ongoing cell death. Live-cell videomicroscopy indicated that <1% of cells died in a 30h period after release from a 6h nocodazole arrest (Fig. 2B) whereas 25% of cells died if continuously treated with the drug (Fig. 2B). Given that the average  $\gamma$ -H2AX per cell is increased 2.5-fold after 6 h of nocodazole (Fig. 1*B*), but 99% of these cells survive following drug washout, acquisition of  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci must precede any eventual commitment to cell death. Consistent with this, only cells with apoptotic nuclear morphology, which comprised <10% of the total after 18h nocodazole, exhibited caspase 3 cleavage, cytoplasmic localization of cytochrome c, or activation of Bax, whereas mitotic cells with normal nuclear morphology and abundant  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci displayed none of these events (Fig. 2A). Moreover, in contrast to the  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci seen in mitotic cells, apoptotic cells exhibited a distinct  $\gamma$ -H2AX staining pattern at the periphery of apoptotic chromatin (Fig. 2A). Finally, co-treatment of nocodazole-arrested

cells with the caspase inhibitor Q-VD-OPh (Caserta et al, 2003) produced a 98% inhibition of apoptotic cells, but no inhibition of  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci (Fig. 2*C*). Taken together, these data indicate that while death indeed follows mitotic arrest in a fraction of HCT116 cells, such death is neither the cause of, nor the obligatory conclusion to,  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci acquired during mitotic arrest.

To explore the downstream consequences of this DNA damage, we examined cells for the presence of acquired chromosome aberrations. While untreated cells harbored few spontaneous aberrations (Fig. 3A), cells which were grown in drug-free medium for 20h following release from an 18h nocodazole arrest exhibited a 6-fold increase in the frequency of chromosome breaks (Supplementary Table). The majority were of the chromosome-type, such as double-minutes, acentric fragments, and dicentrics (Fig. 3B, lower inset and Fig. 3C, all insets), consistent with  $\gamma$ -H2AX data indicating that breaks arise during mitotic arrest, and thus before subsequent DNA replication. However, some chromatid-type aberrations were also observed (Fig. 3B, upper inset), raising the possibility that additional DNA lesions, such as single-stranded breaks, base damages, or post-replication double-strand breaks, might be acquired by the cells (Savage, 1976; Zhuanzi et al, 2007). Notably, aberrations were observed not only in tetraploid cells produced through mitotic slippage (Fig. 3*C*) but also in near-diploid cells generated from cell division following drug washout (Fig. 3B), indicating that breaks occur even in cells which recover from transient arrest. Thus, DNA breaks incurred during mitotic arrest manifest as structural karyotype changes in subsequent cell cycles.

We next asked whether a genetic induction of mitotic arrest might also provoke DNA damage. As depletion of the kinetochore protein CENP-E disrupts chromosome-

spindle interactions and induces transient mitotic arrest in human cancer cells (Schaar et al, 1997; Tanudji et al, 2004; Yao et al, 2000), we examined HCT116 cells which had been transfected with siRNAs against this protein. Consistent with previous reports, CENP-E siRNAs produced an elevated mitotic index (Fig. 4*B*) and aberrant mitotic figures (Fig. 4*C*, *left*), as compared to control siRNA, indicating the induction of mitotic arrest. Moreover, CENP-E-depleted prometaphase cells exhibited an increase in  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci (Fig. 4*C*). Thus, genetic induction of mitotic arrest, like that elicited by antimitotic agents, provokes  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci in HCT116 cells.

Interestingly, while performing  $\gamma$ -H2AX immunocytochemistry, we noticed that occasional untreated mitotic HCT116 cells bore characteristics of prolonged mitotic arrest: a prometaphase arrangement of chromosomes and abundant  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci. We thus wondered whether these cells might contain spontaneous spindle defects, which can disrupt mitotic progression (Sluder et al, 1997; Stewenius et al, 2005). Out of 4,000 mitotic cells examined, prometaphase cells with marked elevation of  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci comprised 2.2% of the total, and 69% of these contained either monopolar or multipolar spindles (Fig 4D). In contrast, only 5.3% of prometaphase cells with minimal  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci contained mitotic spindle abnormalities. Thus, the frequency of prometaphase  $\gamma$ -H2AX elevation was increased 13-fold in cells with spontaneous spindle defects (Chi square p < 0.0001). Of note, prophase cells with nascent monopolar or multipolar spindles did not possess elevated  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci (Supplementary Fig. S3), suggesting that  $\gamma$ -H2AXintense mitotic cells acquire their foci during, and not before, prometaphase. These data indicate that prometaphase acquisition of  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci can occur spontaneously in HCT116 cells, and may arise during mitotic arrest provoked by spindle abnormalities.

Finally, we explored the extent to which this phenomenon occurs in other human cells. Out of eight colorectal cancer lines (including HCT116) exposed to nocodazole, six exhibited a  $\gamma$ -H2AX increase in some or most mitotic cells (Supplementary Fig. S4). Increased  $\gamma$ -H2AX was also observed in HeLa cervical cancer cells and BG-1 ovarian cancer cells (Supplementary Fig. S4). Thus, DNA damage during mitotic arrest is a common occurrence in human cancer cells. Additionally, we observed a modest  $\gamma$ -H2AX increase in IMR90 primary human fibroblasts (Supplementary Fig. S4), suggesting that even nontransformed human cells can acquire some DNA damage during mitotic arrest. However, the degree of  $\gamma$ -H2AX induction in primary cells was lower than in the majority of cancer lines, suggesting that malignant cells may be more prone to this damage.

Our study demonstrates that many human cells acquire DNA damage during mitotic arrest. While the mechanism responsible for this damage remains an area for future work, our results have several important implications. First, although unscheduled DNA breaks are known to derive from sources such as replication, oxidative stress, and exogenous mutagens (van Gent et al, 2001), it was hitherto unknown that such breaks could accumulate during mitotic arrest. As such, our findings describe a novel source of DNA damage. Second, because cancer cells frequently contain mitotic defects which induce arrest (Rieder & Maiato, 2004; Therman & Kuhn, 1989) — and because DNA breaks can promote tumorigenesis (van Gent et al, 2001) — our findings suggest that one way mitotic arrest may promote tumorigenesis is through DNA damage. Along these lines, it is interesting to note that inactivation of the tumor suppressor hCDC4 and oncogenic overexpression of Mad2 are accompanied not only by prolongation of mitosis

and aneuploidy, but also by evidence of DNA damage (Rajagopalan et al, 2004; Sotillo et al, 2007). Our results suggest that breaks acquired during mitotic arrest could contribute to the damage observed in these systems. In this way, mitotic arrest may be a source of structural, as well as numerical, chromosomal instability in human cells.

At the same time, this and other studies indicate that cells which endure prolonged or complete inhibition of mitosis exhibit reduced reproductive capacity (Rieder & Maiato, 2004). Indeed, although cell death was not the compulsory fate of HCT116 cells which acquired damage during mitotic arrest, we did observe subsequent death in a fraction of cells. Given that  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci increased with time of mitotic arrest — and that the cytotoxicity of DNA damage is dose-dependent — a third implication of our findings is that extensive DNA damage imposed by prolonged or complete inhibition of mitosis may promote cell death or growth arrest. In this way, our data support and extend the idea, offered by Wong and Stearns (Wong & Stearns, 2005), that the growth arrest which follows pharmacologic induction of mitotic arrest (formerly known as the "tetraploidy checkpoint,") may, at least in some contexts, be a response to DNA damage. Moreover, this consequence may have clinical implications: given the variable degree of  $\gamma$ -H2AX formed upon drug-induced arrest in different cancer cell lines, it is plausible that a tumor's sensitivity to antimitotic chemotherapy could be influenced by its propensity to sustain DNA damage during mitotic arrest. By extension, efforts to identify markers of this propensity might aid attempts to tailor antimitotic chemotherapy to susceptible tumors, as is currently being tried with markers of numerical chromosomal instability (Swanton et al, 2007).

Lastly, our findings do not support a recent claim that microtubule destabilizing agents elicit DNA breaks during  $G_1$  phase, and not mitosis (Quignon et al, 2007). Although we do corroborate these authors' finding that such agents induce breaks, our data indicate that these breaks arise on mitotic chromosomes. This explains why even cells which divide following mitotic arrest possess DNA damage, and it indicates that some yet undefined property of mitosis itself commonly confers vulnerability to DNA damage in human cancer cells.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank D. Pallas and J. Lee for discussion and assistance with live-cell microscopy. We also thank P. Doetsch, D. Jones, A. Corbett, G. Davis, B. Craige, and M. Wiltenburg for discussion and support. This work was supported in part by grants from the National Institutes of Health to V.W.Y. (DK52230, DK64399, and CA84197).



**Figure 1.**  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci accumulate during drug-induced mitotic arrest in HCT116 cells. *A*, Maximum projection images of stacks of prometaphase cells stained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX.  $\gamma$ irr = 30 min after 2 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiation. NOC = nocodazole. PAC = paclitaxel. MON = monastrol. *B*, Quantification of  $\gamma$ -H2AX pixel intensity per prometaphase cell. Means and SEMs are from at least 60 cells per sample taken from two independent experiments. \*\*\*\* = p<0.0001 for t-tests on log-transformed values, which were normally distributed, as compared to control.





*C*, Single focal planes of interphase cells costained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX and either 53BP1 or pATM. *D*, Quantification of  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci per interphase cell. To adjust for cell-cycle differences in DNA content, foci number was normalized to the DNA content of a 2N cell using the Hoechst signal. Means and SEMs are from at least 145 cells per sample, taken from three independent experiments. \*\*\*\* = p<0.0001, for Mann-Whitney tests, as compared to control.



**Figure 2.**  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci acquired during mitotic arrest arise independently of cell death in HCT116 cells.

*A*, Single focal planes of cells stained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX and either cleaved caspase 3 (*top*), cytochrome c (*middle*), or activated Bax (*bottom*). M = mitotic cells. Apo = apoptotic cells. NOC = nocodazole. Cleav Casp 3 = cleaved caspase 3. Cyto C = cytochrome c.



#### Figure 2B-C.

*B*, Cells were treated with nocodazole for 6h, washed either with drug-free or drugcontaining medium, and returned to the chamber for an additional 30h of filming. Shown are timelapse images of cell fate at increasing times after either drug washout (Wash) or mock washout and continued culture in the drug (Mock wash). *C*, Q-VD-OPh inhibits cleaved caspase 3-positive apoptotic cells (20X column) but not  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci in prometaphase cells (100X column and chart). Means and SEMs are from at least 60 cells per sample taken from two independent experiments.



**Figure 3.** HCT116 cells released from mitotic arrest harbor chromosome aberrations. Treated cells were exposed to 18h nocodazole, washed, and released into drug-free medium for 19h. Control cells were incubated in drug-free medium for 19h. All cells were then exposed to nocodazole for 1h to disassemble spindles for spreading, and chromosome spreads were prepared. *A*, A representative control HCT116 cell. *B*, A representative near-diploid cell produced through cell division following drug washout. Insets show a chromatid exchange (*top*) and a chromosome fragment (*bottom*). *C*, A representative tetraploid cell produced through mitotic slippage. Insets show a doubleminute chromosome (*top*) and two dicentric chromosomes (*middle and bottom*).



**Figure 4.** Prometaphase elevation of  $\gamma$ -H2AX in HCT116 cells occurs both upon knockdown of CENP-E and in untreated cells with spontaneous spindle defects. *A*, CENP-E protein levels in cells transfected with two different CENP-E siRNAs, or with control siRNA. RNA polymerase II was used as a loading control. Data are representative of two independent experiments. *B*, Mitotic indices of siRNA-transfected cells. Means and SEMs are from two independent experiments. \*\* = p<0.01, for t-tests,

as compared to control. *C*, Maximum projection images of stacks of siRNA-transfected prometaphase cells stained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX (*left*). Quantification of  $\gamma$ -H2AX pixel intensity per prometaphase cell after siRNA transfection (*right*). Means and SEMs are from at least 70 cells per sample taken from two independent experiments. \*\*\*\* = p<0.0001 for t-tests on log-transformed values, which were normally distributed, as compared to control. *D*, Single focal planes of untreated prometaphase cells stained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX,  $\gamma$ -tubulin, and  $\alpha$ tubulin.

#### **Supplementary Methods**

#### Antibodies

For immunocytochemistry, the following antibodies were used: mouse anti- $\gamma$ -H2AX (Upstate), rabbit anti- $\gamma$ -H2AX (Abcam), rabbit anti-53BP1 (Novus), mouse anti-ATM-phosphoserine1981 (Upstate), rabbit anti-cleaved caspase 3 (Cell Signaling), mouse anti-cytochrome c (Cell Signaling), mouse anti-activated-Bax (Cell Signaling), rabbit anti- $\gamma$ -tubulin (Sigma), and rat anti- $\alpha$ -tubulin (Chemicon). For flow cytometry, mouse anti-MPM-2 (Upstate) and mouse anti- $\gamma$ -H2AX-FITC (Upstate) antibodies were used. All fluorescent secondary antibodies were Alexa-conjugates (Molecular Probes). For immunoblotting, rabbit anti-CENP-E (Sigma), rabbit anti-RNA Polymerase II (Santa Cruz), mouse anti- $\gamma$ -H2AX (Upstate), and rabbit anti-actin (Sigma) antibodies were used. To confirm specificity of the mouse anti- $\gamma$ -H2AX (Upstate) antibody, immunoblotting was performed on control and nocodazole-treated cells (Supplementary Fig. S5).

#### **Image Quantification of γ-H2AX**

Confocal stacks of individual nuclei stained with mouse anti- $\gamma$ -H2AX antibody and Hoechst were obtained at 1-micron intervals. For interphase nuclei, maximum projection images were created, and  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci number was quantified using Metamorph (Molecular Devices). For prometaphase nuclei, total  $\gamma$ -H2AX intensity was quantified by summation of pixel intensity of each plane, as mitotic compaction of chromatin produced too much foci overlap for discrimination of foci number. Raw intensity values were then divided by the mean intensity value of control cells, to set the baseline intensity value at 1.

	Cells	Chrom	Chromosome-type aberrations		Chromatid-type aberrations		Total breaks per	Cells with at
			CSB per chrom % (n)	CSE per chrom % (n)	CTB per chrom % (n)	CTE per chrom % (n)	% (n)	% (n)
con	124	5593	0.43 (24)	0.018 (1)	0.14 (8)	0.036 (2)	0.68 (38)	17 (21)
γ-irr	135	6121	1.8 (108)	0.28 (17)	0.36 (22)	0.41 (22)	3.5 (214)****	59 (80)****
noc	106	8075	2.4 (193)	0.26 (21)	0.50 (40)	0.35 (28)	4.1 (331)****	66 (70)****

Supplementary Table. Quantification of chromosome aberrations.

Treated cells were exposed to 18h nocodazole, washed, and released into drug-free medium for 19h. Positive control cells were exposed to 2 Gy of  $\gamma$ -irradiation and incubated for 19h, and negative control cells were incubated in drug-free medium for 19h. All cells were then exposed to nocodazole for 1h to disassemble spindles for spreading, and chromosome spreads were prepared. Con = control.  $\gamma$ -irr =  $\gamma$ -irradiated. Noc = pooling of both the tetraploid (70%) and near-diploid (30%) chromosome spreads produced through drug washout. Cells = number of cells analyzed from two independent experiments. Chrom = total number of chromosomes contained in analyzed cells. CSB = chromosome break. CSE = chromosome exchange. CTB = chromatid break. CTE = chromatid exchange. Total breaks = CSB + CTB + 2(CSE + CTE), as two breaks produce exchanges. \*\*\*\* = p<0.0001, for chi square tests, as compared to control.



**Supplementary Figure S1.** Nocodazole induces transient mitotic arrest in HCT116 cells.

Mitotic index was measured using flow cytometric analysis of cells stained for the mitotic phosphoepitope MPM-2. DNA was counterstained with propidium iodide.



**Supplementary Figure S2.** Nocodazole does not induce  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci in premitotic HCT116 cells.

*A*, Maximum projection images of stacks of interphase cells stained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX after 6h nocodazole, at which point all interphase cells are premitotic. *B*, Quantification of  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci per interphase cell after 6h nocodazole, normalized to DNA content of a 2N cell. Means and SEMs are from at least 98 cells per sample, taken from two independent experiments. \*\*\*\* = p<0.0001, for Mann-Whitney tests, as compared to control. *C*, Cells were contact-inhibited by growing to confluency over 6 days, exposed to either 36h nocodazole or 36h drug-free medium, and stained with propidium iodide. The cell cycle distribution at the end of treatment is shown, and arrows indicate cells which remain in

 $G_1$  due to contact inhibition despite nocodazole treatment *D*,  $\gamma$ -H2AX intensity was then measured by gating on the contact-inhibited  $G_1$  cells, which had also been stained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX. Positive control cells were irradiated 30 min before the end of the final 36h incubation in drug-free medium. Data are representative of two independent experiments.



**Supplementary Figure S3.** Prophase HCT116 cells with spindle abnormalities do not contain elevated  $\gamma$ -H2AX.

Single focal planes of prophase cells stained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX,  $\gamma$ -tubulin, and  $\alpha$ -tubulin, indicating that monopolar or multipolar cells do not have elevated  $\gamma$ -H2AX.  $\gamma$ -irr = 30 min after 2 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiation.



**Supplementary Figure S4.** Acquisition of  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci during mitotic arrest is a common occurrence in human cell lines.

Maximum projection images of stacks of prometaphase cells stained with Hoechst (blue) and anti- $\gamma$ -H2AX (green) after 18h nocodazole.  $\gamma$ -irr = 30 min after 2 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiation. *A*, Colorectal cancer cell lines. *B*, HeLa cervical cancer cells and BG-1 ovarian cancer cells. *C*, IMR90 primary human fibroblasts. Acquisition settings were constant between treatments within a given cell line, but settings were optimized for each cell line to account for differences in background staining.



**Supplementary Figure S5**. Anti-γ-H2AX antibody recognizes a single protein in HCT116 cells.

Cells treated with or without nocodazole for 18h were subjected to immunoblotting with mouse anti- $\gamma$ -H2AX antibody (Upstate). Control and nocodazole-arrested cells were also co-treated with the Q-VD-OPh caspase inhibitor to prevent apoptotic  $\gamma$ -H2AX from diluting the signal of non-apoptotic cells. Actin was used as a loading control.

### **Chapter III**

## p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest in human cells

W. Brian Dalton<sup>1,2</sup>, Bing Yu<sup>1,2</sup>, and Vincent W. Yang<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Digestive Diseases, Department of Medicine, <sup>2</sup>Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology Graduate Program, and <sup>3</sup>Winship Cancer Institute, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia 30322, U. S. A.

#### Abstract

The p53 tumor suppressor inhibits the proliferation of cells which have undergone prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint. However, neither the function of this response, nor the mechanism by which p53 is activated during prolonged mitosis, is well characterized. Here we report that p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest in human cells. In both HCT116 colon cancer cells and normal human fibroblasts, DNA breaks occurred during mitotic arrest in a p53-independent manner, but p53 was required to suppress the proliferation and structural chromosome instability of the resulting polyploid cells. Moreover, we observed that p53 suppressed both the frequency and structural chromosome instability of spontaneous polyploids in HCT116 cells. These data suggest that a function of the p53-dependent postmitotic response may be the prevention of structural chromosome instability following prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint. Accordingly, our study suggests a novel mechanism of tumor suppression for p53, as well as a potential role for p53 in the outcome of antimitotic chemotherapy.

#### Introduction

The p53 tumor suppressor represents a central defense against the development of human cancer (Vousden & Lane, 2007). Its inactivation is one of the most common alterations in human tumors, and numerous functional studies have established the tumor suppressing properties of p53 (Toledo & Wahl, 2006). A principal mechanism of this tumor suppression is the induction of growth arrest and/or apoptosis in cells which suffer DNA damage (Vousden & Lu, 2002). In this way, p53 inhibits the propagation of cells which harbor potentially oncogenic DNA alterations. In addition, other forms of stress have been shown to activate p53-dependent responses (Vousden & Lane, 2007). One example is prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint, which elicits a p53-dependent cell cycle arrest (Cross et al, 1995; Lanni & Jacks, 1998; Minn et al, 1996). This "postmitotic" response, so named because growth arrest is actually imposed on cells which have exited from prolonged mitosis, has been observed in numerous cell systems (Andreassen et al, 2001; Chan et al, 2008; Cross et al, 1995; Di Leonardo et al, 1997; Lanni & Jacks, 1998; Minn et al, 1996; Vogel et al, 2004). Despite the ubiquity of this phenomenon, neither the mechanism by which p53 is activated by prolonged mitotic arrest, nor the function of the postmitotic response, is well defined (Ganem & Pellman, 2007; Stukenberg, 2004).

One clue to the function of the postmitotic response is that prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint has been causally implicated in tumorigenesis (Dalton & Yang, 2007; Rajagopalan et al, 2004; Sotillo et al, 2007). Indeed, mitosis is frequently prolonged in cancer cells, and several genetic and epigenetic defects which cause mitotic arrest can contribute to cancer (Fujiwara et al, 2005; Hernando et al, 2004; Keck et al, 2007; Menssen et al, 2007; Rajagopalan et al, 2004; Sotillo et al, 2007; Yang et al, 2008). For some of these defects, such as inactivation of Rb and hCDC4, oncogenic activation of c-Myc, and the presence of supernumerary chromosomes and/or centrosomes, prolonged mitosis is one of many cellular effects which may or may not be oncogenic (Fujiwara et al, 2005; Hernando et al, 2004; Rajagopalan et al, 2004; Yang et al, 2008). However, mitotic arrest and spontaneous cancer also develop in mice overexpressing Mad2, a protein principally involved in mitotic checkpoint signaling, providing strong evidence that prolonged mitotic checkpoint activation can directly promote tumorigenesis (Sotillo et al, 2007). Accordingly, the p53-dependent postmitotic response may serve to inhibit the propagation of cells which acquire oncogenic properties during prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint.

What aspects of mitotic arrest might be oncogenic? Certainly, one candidate is aneuploidy and/or tetraploidy resulting from the chromosome missegregation and/or cytokinesis failure which can follow prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint (Pellman, 2007; Rajagopalan et al, 2004; Sotillo et al, 2007; van Deursen, 2007). Indeed, in some contexts, aneuploidy and tetraploidy have themselves been causally implicated in tumorigenesis (Fujiwara et al, 2005; Weaver et al, 2007). At the same time, we and others recently found that mitotic arrest can induce structural chromosome aberrations resulting from double-stranded DNA breaks (Dalton et al, 2007; Quignon et al, 2007; Stevens et al, 2007). Given the causative role of structural chromosome aberrations in cancer, these observations suggest that one way prolonged mitosis could promote cancer is through introduction of DNA breaks. By extension, one function of the p53-dependent postmitotic response may be to prevent the structural chromosome instability which can

result from DNA damage acquired during mitotic arrest. To investigate this possibility, we have measured structural chromosome instability resulting from mitotic arrest in human colon cancer cells and normal fibroblasts which differ only in their p53 status. Our results demonstrate that, by imposing growth arrest and/or apoptosis in cells whose DNA is damaged during mitotic arrest, p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability following prolonged mitotic checkpoint activation in human cells.

#### Results

#### Both $p53^{+/+}$ and $p53^{-/-}$ cells acquire $\gamma$ -H2AX foci during mitotic arrest

To examine the role of p53 in structural chromosome instability following prolonged mitosis, we first asked whether p53 influences the acquisition of DNA damage during pharmacologic induction of mitotic arrest in isogenic  $p53^{+/+}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 cells (Bunz et al, 1998). Upon treatment with the microtubule-depolymerizing agent nocodazole, both  $p53^{+/+}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  cells exhibited a transient rise in mitotic index which peaked at 12-18h (Figure 1A). This was followed by "mitotic slippage," a process whereby mitotically-arrested cells return to interphase without undergoing cell division (Figure 1A) (Rieder & Maiato, 2004). To determine the extent of DNA damage acquired during this arrest, we measured the formation of  $\gamma$ -H2AX, the phosphorylated form of histone H2AX which forms around sites of DNA breaks (Rogakou et al, 1999). Similar to our previous findings (Dalton et al, 2007), nocodazole-arrested prometaphase  $p53^{+/+}$  cells showed an increase in  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci, as compared to prometaphase controls (Figure 1B). Increased  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci were also observed in  $p53^{-/-}$  cells (Figure 1B), and flow cytometric analysis demonstrated that the magnitude of this increase was comparable to  $p53^{+/+}$  cells (Figure 1C). To determine whether increased  $\gamma$ -H2AX was indeed the result of mitotic arrest, and not some other effects of nocodazole, we performed the assay after siRNA-mediated knockdown of the Eg5 mitotic kinesin protein, whose inactivation prevents centrosome separation, produces a monopolar spindle, and thereby induces mitotic arrest (Koller et al, 2006). Indeed, knockdown of Eg5 produced an elevated mitotic index, monopolar spindles, and increased  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci in mitotic  $p53^{+/+}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$ cells (Figure 1D-F). Thus, pharmacologic and genetic manipulations which provoke mitotic arrest through distinct mechanisms both produce evidence of DNA breaks in  $p53^{+/+}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 cells.

#### p53 inhibits the polyploidization and survival of postmitotic cells

Having observed that p53 does not influence the acquisition of DNA damage during mitotic arrest, we next investigated whether the cellular consequences of this damage are dependent on p53. We first determined the fates of  $p53^{+/+}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  cells after nocodazole treatment. Similar to results from previous results (Castedo et al, 2006; Kim et al, 2004; Vogel et al, 2004), we found that nocodazole-treated  $p53^{-/-}$  cells exhibited greater polyploidization when compared to  $p53^{+/+}$  cells (Figure 2A). Moreover, among those cells which became polyploid (DNA content > 4N), a greater proportion of  $p53^{-/-}$  cells reached mitosis, as compared to  $p53^{+/+}$  cells (Figure 2B and 2C), supporting the idea that p53-dependent cell cycle arrest may occur at both G1 and G2 in drug-induced polyploid cells (Vogel et al, 2004).

In addition to increased polyploidization,  $p53^{-/-}$  cells also exhibited a reduction in

cell death following nocodazole treatment (Figure 2B, D-F). This was evidenced first by the fact that, in comparison to  $p53^{+/+}$  cells,  $p53^{-/-}$  cells showed a reduced accumulation of cells that were entirely negative for the MPM-2 phosphoepitope (Figure 2B and D), a property which was found, through fluorescent microscopy, to be a marker of apoptotic cells (Supplementary Figure S1). Second, PARP cleavage, a caspase-dependent apoptotic event, was markedly reduced in nocodazole-treated  $p53^{-/-}$  cells (Figure 2E). Third, longterm colony survival of  $p53^{-/-}$  cells exposed to 48h nocodazole, while low overall, was 5fold higher than that of  $p53^{+/+}$  cells (Figure 2F). Taken together, these data indicate that p53 inhibits not only polyploidization, but also survival, following pharmacologic induction of mitotic arrest in HCT116 cells.

Although p53-dependent growth arrest following prolonged mitotic arrest has been consistently detected in numerous cell systems, as mentioned previously, the observance of p53-dependent cell death following mitotic arrest is variable and cell typespecific (Castedo et al, 2006; Galmarini et al, 2001; Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008; Kienitz et al, 2005; Tao et al, 2007; Wahl et al, 1996; Woods et al, 1995; Yamaguchi et al, 2004). Considering the fact that only a single  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 clone was isolated from the gene targeting process (Bunz et al, 1998), the differential sensitivity to cell death in  $p53^{-/-}$ HCT116 cells might be a consequence of other genetic differences acquired during the drug selection procedure required for gene targeting, as discussed elsewhere (Matoba et al, 2006; Pfleghaar et al, 2005). To address this possibility, we tested the response to nocodazole of HCT116 cells in which p53 was silenced through lentivirus-mediated stable expression of miRNAs. Compared to cells expressing a control miRNA, two cell lines expressing independent miRNAs against p53 exhibited increased polyploidy and reduced cell death upon nocodazole treatment (Figure 3A-E), phenocopying the behavior of  $p53^{-/-}$  cells. These data thus provide robust confirmation that p53 inhibits both polyploidization and cell death following pharmacologic induction of mitotic arrest in HCT116 cells.

#### p53 inhibits structural chromosome instability in postmitotic cells

By inducing growth arrest and apoptosis in cells which have undergone prolonged mitotic arrest, p53 could act to suppress the structural chromosome changes which result from DNA damage acquired during prolonged mitosis. If true,  $p53^{-/-}$  cells made polyploid following prolonged mitosis might be expected to harbor more structural chromosome aberrations than their  $p53^{+/+}$  counterparts. To test this hypothesis, we examined  $p53^{+/+}$ and  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 cells for the presence of chromosome aberrations after 48h of nocodazole treatment. Consistent with our previous findings (Dalton et al, 2007), nocodazole-induced polyploid HCT116 cells exhibited multiple types of chromosome aberrations, including double-minutes, fragments, dicentric chromosomes, and chromatid exchanges (Figure 4). Notably, nocodazole-treated  $p53^{-/-}$  cells exhibited a 1.5-fold higher burden of aberrations than  $p53^{+/+}$  cells (p < 0.0001) (Figure 4). Because p53 does not appear to influence the magnitude of DNA damage acquisition during mitotic arrest (Figure 1), this result suggests that p53 preferentially inhibits the polyploidization and survival of those cells which suffer the most DNA damage during mitotic arrest. In this way, p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest in HCT116 cells.

#### Inhibition of cytokinesis does not elicit significant structural chromosome instability

Taken together, our  $\gamma$ -H2AX and cytogenetic data indicate that the observed p53dependent structural chromosome instability is a consequence of DNA damage incurred during prolonged mitotic arrest. However, it is also possible that the polyploid state itself might elicit structural chromosome changes, for example, through DNA damage incurred during a disturbed S-phase (Ganem et al, 2007). To explore this possibility, we determined the cell fate and genomic stability of  $p53^{+/+}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 cells treated with the myosin inhibitor blebbistatin, which creates polyploid cells through inhibition of cytokinesis without provoking mitotic arrest (Wong & Stearns, 2005). In contrast to nocodazole, blebbistatin was capable of producing polyploidy without significant cell death, cell cycle arrest, or increased chromosome aberrations (Figure 5A-C). Moreover, no difference in these parameters was observed between  $p53^{+/+}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  cells (Figure 5A-C). This result thus indicates that it is prolonged mitotic arrest, and not polyploidy per se, that elicits significant DNA damage and p53-dependent suppression of structural chromosome instability in nocodazole-treated HCT116 cells. Interestingly, although the total number of breaks per chromosome was not increased by blebbistatin treatment, the frequencies of certain aberrations did change (Figure 5C). For example, chromosome exchanges (CSE column, Figure 5C) were somewhat elevated, whereas chromosome fragments (CSB column, Figure 5C) were reduced, in blebbistatin-treated cells. This pattern was also observed following cytokinesis inhibition using dihydrocytochalasin B (unpublished observations). Thus, while these data demonstrate that polyploidization itself does not account for the structural chromosome instability following prolonged

mitotic arrest, they suggest that polyploidization, or at least pharmacologic inhibition of cytokinesis, may induce some degree of DNA damage.

# p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest in normal human fibroblasts

We next tested whether p53-dependent suppression of structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest occurs in untransformed human cells. To do so, we examined the response to nocodazole of human diploid fibroblasts (HDFs) in which p53 was silenced through lentivirus-mediated expression of miRNAs (Figure 6A). In HDFs expressing either p53 or control miRNAs, nocodazole produced an increase in  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci during mitotic arrest (Figure 6B). Thus, as in HCT116 cells, p53 does not influence the acquisition of DNA damage during mitotic arrest in normal human cells. Also similar to HCT116 cells, HDFs expressing p53 miRNA exhibited an increase in polyploidization (3.5- to 7.5-fold, p<0.05) and structural chromosome instability (2.6- to 2.8-fold, p<0.01) following nocodazole treatment, as compared to control miRNA (Figure 6C-E). In addition to harboring chromosome aberrations like fragments and dicentrics, a minority of HDFs also exhibited evidence of chromosome pulverization, which can occur when micronuclei enter mitosis prematurely (Supplementary Figure S2) (Ikeuchi et al, 1972; Kato & Sandberg, 1967). Nocodazole-induced cell death, however, did not appear to be influenced by p53 knockdown in HDFs (Supplementary Figure S3), supporting the notion that the effect of p53 on apoptosis following prolonged mitotic arrest is cell typedependent, as previously discussed(Wahl et al, 1996; Woods et al, 1995; Wu & El-Diery, 1996; Yamaguchi et al, 2004). These data therefore demonstrate that, by inducing

postmitotic cell cycle arrest, p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest in normal human cells.

#### p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability in spontaneous polyploids

Interestingly, while performing cytogenetic analysis of HCT116 cells, we noticed that many spontaneous polyploid  $p53^{-/-}$  cells contained chromosome aberrations, including chromosome fragments, dicentrics, and chromatid breaks (Figure 7A). Indeed, quantification revealed a 2.8-fold increase in the number of breaks per chromosome in polyploid (8N) vs. diploid (4N)  $p53^{-/-}$  cells (p<0.0001) (Figure 7A). Color karyotyping of these spontaneous  $p53^{-/-}$  polyploids (>4N) confirmed the presence of cells with chromosome fragments and chromosome rearrangements (Figure 7C). In contrast, spontaneous  $p53^{+/+}$  polyploids did not exhibit an elevated frequency of chromosome aberrations, when compared to  $p53^{+/+}$  diploid cells (Figure 7A). Moreover, we found that, while of low overall abundance, spontaneous polyploid mitotic cells were 3-fold more frequent in  $p53^{-/-}$ , as compared to  $p53^{+/+}$ , cells (Figure 7B), consistent with previous studies (Bunz et al, 2002; Pantic et al, 2006). These findings thus indicate that, in HCT116 cells, p53 suppresses both the frequency and the structural chromosome instability of spontaneous polyploids.

While the origin of these spontaneously damaged  $p53^{-/-}$  polyploids is unknown, one possibility is that they may arise from cells which undergo mitotic slippage following mitotic arrest, for example due to the appearance of spontaneous spindle defects, which we previously observed at low frequency in HCT116 cells (Dalton et al, 2007). To examine this possibility, we examined mitotic progression using timelapse

videomicroscopy. This analysis revealed that 4% (24/592) of mitoses resulted in spontaneous cell division failure in  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 cells. Moreover, the average length of mitosis in these cells was significantly longer than that of cells which completed a normal, bipolar mitosis (229 vs. 36 minutes, p<0.0001) (Supplementary Figure S4). Indeed, some cells spent up to 10h in spontaneous mitotic arrest, before undergoing mitotic slippage (data not shown). These data thus indicate that mitotic slippage following prolonged mitosis can occur spontaneously, and are consistent with the possibility that this mechanism of polyploidization may be responsible for the increased structural chromosome instability in polyploid  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 cells.

#### Discussion

Our study demonstrates that in both human colon cancer cells and normal human fibroblasts, p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability following prolonged activation of the mitotic checkpoint. This finding has several important implications. Because (1) certain genetic and epigenetic alterations which elicit prolonged mitotic checkpoint activation are causally implicated in tumorigenesis (Dalton & Yang, 2007; Rajagopalan et al, 2004; Sotillo et al, 2007), (2) prolonged mitosis can provoke DNA breaks (Dalton et al, 2007; Quignon et al, 2007; Stevens et al, 2007), (3) DNA breaks can promote tumorigenesis (van Gent et al, 2001) and (4) inactivation of p53 is one of the most common oncogenic events in human cancer (Vousden & Lane, 2007), our findings suggest that suppression of structural chromosome instability following prolonged mitosis may represent a novel mechanism of tumor suppression for p53. Thus, similar to other sources of DNA damage such as replication stress and radiation, prolonged mitotic checkpoint activation may produce potentially oncogenic DNA damage which necessitates the antitumor activities of p53.

By extension, our data suggest that one function of the long-observed p53dependent postmitotic response (Cross et al, 1995; Ganem & Pellman, 2007; Lanni & Jacks, 1998; Minn et al, 1996; Stukenberg, 2004) may be the suppression of structural chromosome instability. Accordingly, if polyploid cells generated through mitotic slippage evade this p53-dependent response, they may bear an increased risk of promoting cancer, due to genetic alterations acquired during their formation. What is more, polyploid cells may experience further DNA damage during subsequent mitosis, as the presence of supernumerary chromosomes and/or centrosomes itself prolongs activation of the mitotic checkpoint (Yang et al, 2008). Consistent with this idea, we previously observed evidence that spontaneous multipolar HCT116 cells, many of which are likely to be polyploid (Stewenius et al, 2005), may acquire DNA damage during a spontaneously prolonged mitosis (Dalton et al, 2007). Indeed, inactivation of p53 increased the frequency of these damaged multipolar cells (data not shown). Thus, p53dependent postmitotic arrest may suppress a "vicious cycle" of structural chromosome instability occurring during the formation—and propagation—of polyploid cells. This may help explain why polyploid cells created through cytokinesis inhibition—and thus without prior mitotic arrest—have increased tumorigenicity in a p53-deficient background (Fujiwara et al, 2005).

Notably, Bunz et al. have previously reported that, in human cells, inactivation of p53 increases the frequency of spontaneous polyploidy, but not near-diploid aneuploidy nor structural aberrations (Bunz et al, 2002). Our findings are in general agreement with

this study, as p53 inactivation increased spontaneous polyploidy (Figure 7B), but not near-diploid aneuploidy (unpublished observations), in HCT116 cells. We did observe an increase in spontaneous structural aberrations in diploid  $p53^{-/-}$ , as compared to  $p53^{+/+}$ , HCT116 cells (Figure 7), although the small magnitude of this difference still supports the conclusion of Bunz et al. that inactivation of p53 does not elicit the degree of structural chromosome changes observed in cancer cells which exhibit chromosomal instability (CIN) (Bunz et al, 2002). However, in contrast to diploid cells, spontaneous polyploid HCT116 cells did harbor significantly increased structural chromosome aberrations in the absence of p53 (Figure 7A and 7C), and some of these spontaneous polyploids also exhibited numerical instability (Figure 7C). These discrepancies may be due to the larger number of cells in our analysis and/or differences in the aberration detection methods. Indeed, although spectral karyotyping is more sensitive than traditional chromosome staining for the detection of certain aberrations, it can actually be less sensitive for others (Szeles et al, 2006). Thus, we conclude that although inactivation of p53 in human cells is not sufficient to produce near-diploid CIN, it may nonetheless promote genetic instability in polyploid cells.

Our data also have implications for understanding the cellular responses to antimitotic chemotherapeutics. The p53-regulated survival of nocodazole-treated HCT116 cells suggests that p53 can be a determinant of antimitotic chemosensitivity. Indeed, we have also observed that p53 knockdown partially attenuated nocodazoleinduced apoptosis in RKO colon cancer cells (unpublished observations). These findings are consistent with previous reports in HCT116 and MCF-7 cells (Castedo et al, 2006; Galmarini et al, 2001; Kienitz et al, 2005; Yamaguchi et al, 2004; Zhang et al, 2002). At
the same time, studies in other cell systems have found that p53 inactivation confers no change—or even an increase—in antimitotic sensitivity, demonstrating the cell typespecificity of this effect (Minn et al, 1996; Tao et al, 2007; Wahl et al, 1996; Woods et al, 1995). Our own observation that p53 knockdown did not significantly affect nocodazoleinduced apoptosis in HDFs is consistent with this idea. Thus, a conservative interpretation of these findings is that p53 may be a determinant of antimitotic sensitivity in a subset of human tumors. In addition, our cytogenetic data suggest that cells which survive exposure to antimitotic drugs may be at increased risk of further structural chromosome changes, and that such risk may be exacerbated by loss of p53. In this way, inactivation of p53 may not only increase resistance to initial treatment with antimitotics, but may also facilitate the evolution of further tumor aggressiveness caused by the treatment itself.

An important but unanswered question is what triggers p53 during this process (Chan et al, 2008; Ganem & Pellman, 2007; Stukenberg, 2004). Although an initial proposal was that p53 is activated by a mechanism which senses, or counts, the presence of a tetraploid genome (Andreassen et al, 2001), subsequent studies demonstrated that tetraploid cells produced in the absence of prolonged mitosis do not necessarily undergo p53-dependent growth arrest (Uetake & Sluder, 2004; Uetake & Sluder, 2007; Wong & Stearns, 2005). Indeed, the results of our blebbistatin experiment (Figure 5) support the conclusions of these later studies. Another proposal has been that the transcriptional repression which occurs during mitosis leads to inhibition of p53 degradation, which in turn leads to progressive accumulation of p53 protein during prolonged mitotic arrest (Blagosklonny, 2006). However, this "mitotic timer" model for p53 is not supported by

studies showing that conditions which dramatically shorten mitotic arrest do not diminish the accumulation of p53 (Chan et al, 2008; Vogel et al, 2004), nor by the report that p53 accumulation occurs after, and not during, mitotic arrest (Minn et al, 1996).

Because DNA damage is a well-established activator of p53 (Vousden & Lu, 2002), it is tempting to speculate that postmitotic activation of p53 is induced, or at least influenced, by DNA damage acquired during mitotic arrest. Indeed, our finding that loss of p53 increases the burden of chromosome aberrations in nocodazole-induced polyploids—but does not affect the initial acquisition of DNA damage during mitotic arrest—suggests that the p53-dependent postmitotic response preferentially inhibits the most damaged cells. This, in turn, suggests that the extent of DNA damage acquired during prolonged mitosis influences cell fate. In this way, the postmitotic activation of p53 by DNA damage would be analogous to p53 activation following blockage of nucleotide biosynthesis, which while initially believed to be a non-genotoxic inducer of p53 (Linke et al, 1996), has recently been shown, with more sensitive assays, to cause DNA damage (Hastak et al, 2008).

At the same time, it remains possible that DNA damage is one, but not the only, determinant of p53 activation following prolonged mitotic arrest (Ganem & Pellman, 2007). Indeed, we previously observed significant cell-type variation in nocodazoleinduced  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci (Dalton et al, 2007), which raises the question of whether DNA damage could account for p53 activation following mitotic arrest in all cell types. Along these lines, a lack of increased  $\gamma$ -H2AX in nocodazole-treated U20S cells has been reported (Aylon et al, 2006; Chan et al, 2008). However, multiple studies have now reported evidence that DNA damage accompanies treatments which induce mitotic arrest

in a variety of cell lines (Dalton et al, 2007; Quignon et al, 2007; Shi et al, 2008; Stevens et al, 2007; Tighe et al, 2004; Wong & Stearns, 2005). Furthermore, it is important to note that a lack of increased  $\gamma$ -H2AX does not rule out the presence of DNA damage, as there are DNA lesions, such as single-stranded breaks and base alterations, which do not induce  $\gamma$ -H2AX (Rogakou et al, 1998). In fact, some of the chromatid-type aberrations we observed after prolonged mitotic arrest could result from lesions other than doublestranded breaks (Zhuanzi et al, 2007). Clearly, future studies into the mechanisms responsible for DNA damage during mitotic arrest will be needed to determine its role in postmitotic p53 activation. Nonetheless, we believe our data demonstrate that, whatever its mechanism of activation, p53 functions to inhibit the potentially dangerous consequences of DNA damage acquired during mitotic arrest.

#### Materials and methods

#### **Cell lines and treatments**

IMR90 HDFs were obtained from the ATCC.  $p53^{+/+}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 cells were kindly provided by B.Vogelstein (Johns Hopkins Medical Institution, Baltimore, MD). HCT116 cells were cultured in McCoy's and seeded at a density of  $3 \times 10^4$ cells/cm<sup>2</sup> onto fibronectin-coated dishes or slides 24h prior to experiments. IMR90 cells were cultured in DMEM and also seeded at a density of 3 x  $10^4$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> 24h prior to experiments. Nocodazole and blebbistatin (Sigma) were used at 200nM and 150µM, respectively, the minimum concentrations which completely inhibited cell division in HCT116 cells (data not shown).  $\gamma$ -irradiation was performed with a Cs-137 Gammacell. Stealth<sup>™</sup> Select siRNAs targeted to Eg5, control siRNA, and Lipofectamine RNAiMax<sup>™</sup> were obtained from, and used according to the instructions of, Invitrogen. miRNAs targeting p53, or a nonspecific control, were also obtained from Invitrogen, initially as DNA oligos. These oligos were then cloned into the pLenti6-GW/EmGFPmiR lentiviral expression vector (Invitrogen), and these vectors were transfected into 293FT cells along with the pLP/VSVG, pLP1, and pLP2 plasmids (Invitrogen) to produce miRNA-containing lentivirus. HCT116 and IMR90 were transduced with hightiter virus, and pools of hundreds of blasticidin-resistant colonies were expanded to produce stable knockdown cell lines.

#### Immunodetection

For immunocytochemistry, cells were fixed with 2% formaldehyde/PBS and permeabilized with 0.2% Triton-X 100. Antibody incubations were 1h at room

temperature, and DNA was counterstained with DAPI. Images were acquired with a Zeiss Axioskop 2 Plus microscope. For MPM-2 flow cytometry, cells were harvested by trypsinization and fixed overnight at -20°C in 70% ethanol. Antibody incubations were 1h at room temperature, and DNA was counterstained with propidium iodide. For  $\gamma$ -H2AX/CC-3 flow cytometry, cells were harvested by trypsinization, fixed with 2% formaldehyde/PBS, permeabilized with methanol, and incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies, followed the next day by 1h incubations with secondary antibodies. Like MPM-2, CC-3 is an antibody which specifically stains mitotic cells, but is an IgG<sub>2a</sub> allotype, and can thus be used simultaneously with IgG<sub>1</sub> antibodies, such as  $\gamma$ -H2AX (Thibodeau & Vincent, 1991). Data were acquired using a FACSCalibur (Becton-Dickinson) and analyzed with Flowjo. Immunoblotting was performed as previously described (Yoon et al, 2005).

The following antibodies were used: mouse anti-γ-H2AX (Upstate), rat anti-αtubulin (Chemicon), mouse MPM-2 (Upstate), mouse CC-3 (a gift from M. Vincent, Université Laval, Québec, Qc, Canada), rabbit anti-Eg5 (Abcam), goat anti-p53 (Santa Cruz), rabbit anti-cleaved-PARP (Cell Signaling), and mouse anti-actin (Sigma). All fluorescent secondary antibodies were Alexa-conjugates (Molecular Probes).

#### Cytogenetic analyses

Chromosome spreads were prepared using standard cytogenetic techniques, DNA was stained with DAPI, and images were obtained using a Zeiss Axioskop 2 Plus microscope. Scoring of chromosome aberrations was performed according to the classification system of Savage (Savage, 1976). Furthermore, all scoring was performed,

where possible, in a blinded fashion. For color karyotyping of spontaneous polyploid  $p53^{-1}$  cells, analysis was performed by Chrombios GmbH (Munich, Germany).

### **Colony survival**

Following 48h nocodazole treatment, HCT116 cells were harvested by trypsinization and seeded into T75 flasks. After 9 days, colonies were stained with methylene blue, photographs of the flasks were taken, and colony number was quantified using Metamorph imaging software. For quantification of untreated control colonies, 1/100 the number of cells used in nocodazole-treated samples were seeded into T75 flasks and colony number was normalized accordingly, as use of the same number of cells as nocodazole-treated samples produced colonies which were too dense to be quantified (Figure 2E).

## **Time-lapse imaging**

Phase-contrast images of  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 cells grown inside a 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> chamber were automatically obtained at 6 min intervals in multiple locations over 48h using an Olympus IX81 microscope. All images were analyzed with Slidebook.

# Acknowledgements

We thank D. Pallas, P. Doetsch, D. Jones, A. Corbett, G. Davis, and M. Wiltenburg for discussion and support, and B. Vogelstein for providing cell lines. This work was supported in part by grants from the National Institutes of Health to V.W.Y. (DK52230, DK64399, and CA84197) and to W.B.D. (5T32GM008367-18).





(A) Diploid mitotic index of HCT116 cells during 48h nocodazole, as determined by MPM-2 flow cytometry. Means and SEMs are from 2-3 independent experiments. (B) Images of prometaphase cells stained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX and  $\alpha$ -tubulin. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI. Noc = 18h nocodazole.  $\gamma$ -irr = 30 min after 2 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiation.



### Figure 1C-F.

(C) Flow cytometric analysis of mitotic  $\gamma$ -H2AX. Cells were treated with or without 18h nocodazole and stained for CC-3 and  $\gamma$ -H2AX. CC-3-positive cells, which are mitotic (Thibodeau & Vincent, 1991), were gated, and  $\gamma$ -H2AX signals of the gated cells are shown. Data are representative of two independent experiments. (D) Western blot analysis of Eg5 in HCT116 cells 24h after transfection with Eg5-specific, or control, siRNA. Actin was used as a loading control. (E) Diploid mitotic index of HCT116 cells 24h after transfection with Eg5-specific, or MPM-2 flow cytometry. Means and SEMs are from two independent experiments. \* = p<0.05, \*\*

= p<0.01 for t-tests, as compared to control. (F) Images of prometaphase cells stained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX and  $\alpha$ -tubulin 24h after transfection with Eg5-specific, or control, siRNA.



**Figure 2** p53 inhibits the polyploidization and survival of HCT116 cells following prolonged mitotic arrest.

(A) Example of cell ploidy (left panel) and quantification of polyploidy (right panel) in nocodazole-treated cells. Means and SEMs are from 2-3 independent experiments. \* = p<0.05, \*\* = p<0.01 for t-tests. (B) Dot plots of cells stained for MPM-2 and DNA content after 24h and 48h nocodazole treatment. (C) Quantification of polyploid (> 4N) mitotic index (upper right gate in Figure 2B) after 48h nocodazole. Means and SEMs are from 2-3 independent experiments. \* = p<0.05, \*\* = p<0.01 for t-tests.



### Figure 2D-F

(**D**) Quantification of cell death (lower gate in Figure 2B) during 48h nocodazole treatment. Means and SEMs are from 2-3 independent experiments. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.01 for t-tests. (**E**) Western blot analysis of p53 and cleaved PARP levels during 48h nocodazole. Actin was used as a loading control. (**F**) Example of colony survival after 48h nocodazole (left panel) and its quantification (right panel). % survival is the number of nocodazole-treated colonies divided by the number of control colonies, although more sparse control flasks were used for quantification (see Materials and methods). Means and SEMs are from three independent experiments. \*\* = p < 0.01 for t-test.



**Figure 3** p53 knockdown phenocopies the response of p53-/- cells to nocodazole. (A) Western blot analysis of p53 and cleaved PARP levels after 48h nocodazole treatment in HCT116 cells stably expressing either control or two independent p53 miRNAs. Actin was used as a loading control. (B) Dot plots of miRNA-expressing cells stained for MPM-2 and DNA content after 48h nocodazole. (C) Quantification of polyploidy in miRNA-expressing cells after 48h nocodazole. Means and SEMs are from 3 independent experiments. \*\* = p<0.01 for t-tests, as compared to miRNA-Con cells treated with 48h nocodazole. (D) Quantification of polyploid mitotic index (upper right gate in Figure 3B) in miRNA-expressing cells after 48h nocodazole. Means and SEMs are from 3 independent experiments. \* = p<0.05 for t-tests, as compared to miRNA-Con cells treated with 48h nocodazole. (E) Quantification of cell death (lower gate in Figure 3B) in miRNA-expressing cells after 48h nocodazole. Means and SEMs are from 3 independent experiments. \* = p<0.05 for t-tests, as compared to miRNA-Con cells treated with 48h nocodazole. (E) Quantification of cell death (lower gate in Figure 3B) in miRNA-expressing cells after 48h nocodazole. Means and SEMs are from 3 independent experiments. \* = p<0.05 for t-tests, as compared to miRNA-Con cells treated with 48h nocodazole. (E) Quantification of cell death (lower gate in Figure 3B) in miRNA-expressing cells after 48h nocodazole. Means and SEMs are from 3 independent experiments. \* = p<0.05 for t-tests, as compared to miRNA-Con cells treated with 48h nocodazole. (E) Quantification of cell death (lower gate in Figure 3B) in miRNA-expressing cells after 48h nocodazole. Means and SEMs are from 3

independent experiments. \*\* = p < 0.01 for t-tests, as compared to miRNA-Con cells treated with 48h nocodazole.

	p53+/+					р53-/-			
Co	n	. 4 4				4 24 24 2		D N	
No	C	1 4. Mar 1 4							
p53	Rx	Cells	Chrom	CSB per chrom % (n)	CSE per chrom % (n)	CTB per chrom % (n)	CTE per chrom % (n)	Total breaks per chrom % (n)	
+/+	Con	150	6750	0.37 (25)	0.03 (2)	0.04 (5)	0.04 (3)	0.59 (40)	
<b>T</b> / <b>T</b>	Noc	150	13500	2.0 (306)	0.42 (57)	0.26 (35)	0.14 (20)	3.7 (495)	
_/_	Con	150	6750	0.56 (38)	0.03 (2)	0.25 (17)	0.06 (4)	0.99 (67)	
,	Noc	150	13500	3.3 (448)	0.47 (63)	0.36 (49)	0.39 (53)	5.4 (729)****	

**Figure 4** p53 suppresses structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest in HCT116 cells.

Examples of chromosome spreads in cells treated with or without nocodazole (Noc) for 48h are shown in upper panels. Insets show chromosome fragments (upper left, lower left, lower right), a chromatid break (lower left), a ring chromosome (upper right), and dicentric chromosomes (upper-middle right, lower-middle right). Quantification of chromosome aberrations is shown in table. Con = control cells. Noc = 48h nocodazole.

Cells = number of cells analyzed from three independent experiments. Chrom = number of chromosomes, obtained by multiplying cell number by either 45 chromosomes/cell for control diploids (4N), or 90 chromosome/cell for nocodazole-induced polyploids (8N). CSB = chromosome break. CSE = chromosome exchange. CTB = chromatid break. CTE = chromatid exchange. Total breaks = CSB + CTB + 2(CSE + CTE), as two breaks produce exchanges. \*\*\*\* = p<0.0001, for chi square test, as compared to nocodazoletreated  $p53^{+/+}$  cells.



**Figure 5** Polyploidization through inhibition of cytokinesis does not elicit significant DNA damage or p53-dependent postmitotic response.

(A) Cell ploidy after 24h blebbistatin. (B) Dot plot of cells stained for MPM-2 and DNA content after 24h blebbistatin. (C) Examples of chromosome spreads (images) and quantification of chromosome aberrations (table) after 24h blebbistatin. Con = control

cells. Bleb = 24h blebbistatin. Cells = number of cells analyzed. Chrom = number of cells multiplied by either 45 chromosomes/cell for control diploids (4N), or 90 chromosomes/cell for blebbistatin-induced polyploids (8N). CSB = chromosome break. CSE = chromosome exchange. CTB = chromatid break. CTE = chromatid exchange. Total breaks = CSB + CTB + 2(CSE + CTE), as two breaks produce exchanges.



**Figure 6** p53 suppresses polyploidization and structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest in IMR90 human diploid fibroblasts (HDFs).

(A) Western blot analysis of p53 after 72h nocodazole in cells stably expressing either control or two independent p53 miRNAs. Actin was used as a loading control. (B) Images of prometaphase cells stained for  $\gamma$ -H2AX and  $\alpha$ -tubulin. Con = control. Noc = 18h nocodazole. (C) Quantification of polyploid mitotic index in miRNA-expressing cells after 72h nocodazole, as determined by MPM-2 flow cytometry. Means and SEMs are from two independent experiments. \* = p<0.05 for t-tests, as compared to miRNA-Con cells treated with 48h nocodazole. (D) Examples of chromosome spreads in cells treated with or without 72h nocodazole. Untreated (upper) or nocodazole-treated (lower) cells expressing either control (left) or p53-1 (right) miRNAs. Insets show dicentric

chromosomes. (E) Quantification of chromosome aberrations. Con = control cells. Noc = 72h nocodazole. Cells = number of cells analyzed from two independent experiments. Chrom = number of chromosomes, obtained by multiplying cell number by either 46 chromosomes/cell for control diploids (2N), or 92 chromosomes/cell for nocodazole-induced polyploids (8N). CSB = chromosome break. CSE = chromosome exchange. CTB = chromatid break. CTE = chromatid exchange. Total breaks = CSB + CTB + 2(CSE + CTE), as two breaks produce exchanges. \*\* = p<0.01, \*\*\* = p<0.001, for chi square tests, as compared to nocodazole-treated cells expressing control miRNA.



**Figure 7** p53 suppresses the frequency of, and structural chromosome instability in, spontaneous polyploid HCT116 cells.

(A) Examples of chromosome spreads in spontaneous diploid (4N) or polyploid (8N) cells are shown in upper panels. Insets show a dicentric chromosome (red rectangle) and a chromosome fragment (yellow rectangle). Quantification of chromosome aberrations is

shown in table. Con = control cells. Cells = number of cells analyzed from three independent experiments. Chrom = number of chromosomes, obtained by multiplying cell number by either 45 chromosomes/cell for diploid (4N), or 90 chromosomes/cell, for polyploid (8N), chromosomes/cell. CSB = chromosome break. CSE = chromosome exchange. CTB = chromatid break. CTE = chromatid exchange. Total breaks = CSB + CTB + 2(CSE + CTE), as two breaks produce exchanges. \*\*\*\* = p<0.0001, for chi square tests, as compared to diploid  $p53^{-/-}$ , diploid  $p53^{+/+}$ , or polyploid  $p53^{+/+}$  cells.





# Figure 7B-C.

(**B**) Quantification of mitotic cells with polyploid DNA content, as determined by scoring of chromosome spreads. Means and SEMs are from 3 independent experiments. \*\* = p<0.01 for t-test. (**C**) Example of chromosome aberrations in a polyploid  $p53^{-/-}$  cell, as

determined by color karyotyping. The red underlining indicates an aberration not present in the diploid  $p53^{+/+}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 karyotype (Bunz et al, 2002). Chromosome fragments are also underlined in the lower left.



**Supplementary Figure S1** Cells staining entirely negative for MPM-2 have apoptotic nuclear morphology.

 $p53^{+/+}$  HCT116 cells were stained for DNA and MPM-2 after 48h nocodazole and examined by microscopy (left panel) or flow cytometry (right panel). Levels of MPM-2 staining progressively decreased from mitotic to interphase to apoptotic cells.

Start and	miRNA	Rx	Cells with pulverization % (n)
ILU - E Sen	miCON	Con	0 (0/30)
a der & Ellin II	micon	Noc	12.5 (3/24)
all the second	mE2 4	Con	0 (0/30)
Salar Salar	p55-1	Noc	28.1 (16/57)
TO AT A C	nF2 2	Con	0 (0/30)
· 17	p55-2	Noc	14.3 (6/42)

**Supplementary Figure S2** Chromosome pulverization occurs in a fraction of nocodazole-treated HDFs.

(Left) Example of a chromosome spread from a p53 miRNA-expressing cell after 72h nocodazole. Arrow points to chromosome pulverization. (Right) Tabulation of the frequency of cells exhibiting pulverization. Con = control. Noc = 72h nocodazole.





Quantification of subdiploidy (< 2N) in control or p53 miRNA-expressing IMR90 cells after 72h nocodazole, as determined by MPM-2 flow cytometry. Means and SEMs are from at least two independent experiments.



Supplementary Figure S4 Mitosis is spontaneously prolonged in  $p53^{-/-}$  HCT116 cells which fail to divide.

Dot plot of mitotic length, defined as the interval between the start of mitotic rounding up and anaphase (or mitotic slippage), in cells which underwent normal, bipolar cell division or which failed to divide. 24 cells in each category were scored, and the mean lengths of mitosis are represented by horizontal lines. \*\*\*\* = p<0.0001 for ttest.

# **Chapter IV**

# Discussion

W. Brian Dalton<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Digestive Diseases, Department of Medicine, <sup>2</sup>Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology Graduate Program, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30322

#### Conclusions

Because there is evidence that events occurring during and after prolonged mitotic arrest affect both tumorigenesis and the action of antimitotic chemotherapeutics, knowledge of the mechanisms responsible for these effects should expand our understanding of both cancer biology and chemotherapy (Dalton & Yang, 2007; Rieder & Maiato, 2004; Weaver & Cleveland, 2005). In an effort to contribute to this understanding, the work described in this dissertation characterized a novel phenomenon in human cells: the acquisition of DNA damage during, and p53-regulated development of structural chromosome instability after, mitotic arrest (Figure 1). This finding represents an original contribution to the field by describing a novel source of DNA damage in human cells, providing evidence that mitotic arrest may promote tumorigenesis and antimitotic toxicity through infliction of DNA damage, and suggesting a novel anticancer role for the p53 tumor suppressor.

Unscheduled DNA breaks are known to derive from sources such as collapsed replication forks, oxidative stress, radiation, radiomimetic chemicals, telomere dysfunction, and severance of anaphase bridges (Stewenius et al, 2005; van Gent et al, 2001). The data presented in Chapters II and III demonstrate that prolonged mitosis represents an additional source of DNA damage in human cells. Indeed, these breaks were observed following mitotic arrest induced by the microtubule-destabilizing agent nocodazole, the microtubule-stabilizing agent paclitaxel, the Eg5 mitotic kinesin inhibitor monastrol, knockdown of CENP-E, knockdown of Eg5, and spontaneously-arising defects of spindle pole number. We observed evidence for these breaks in multiple colorectal cancer cells, cervical cancer cells, ovarian cancer cells, and normal human

fibroblasts. Around the time of our discovery of this phenomenon, two other groups reported similar findings (Quignon et al, 2007; Stevens et al, 2007). Additionally, Shi et al. recently reported evidence of DNA damage induced by prolonged mitotic arrest in multiple human cancer cell lines (Shi et al, 2008). Taken together, these studies further support our finding that mitotic arrest, induced through multiple mechanisms, can provoke DNA damage in a variety of human and mouse cells.

The work described in this dissertation also suggests that one mechanism by which mitotic arrest may promote tumorigenesis and the toxicity of antimitotic chemotherapeutics is through the infliction of DNA damage. Thus, genetic defects which are both causally implicated in cancer and elicit prolonged mitotic arrest, such as inactivation of Rb, inactivation of hCDC4, overexpression of Mad2, overexpression of cyclin E, inactivation of SBDS, activation of oncogenic c-Myc, acquisition of extra chromosomes, and acquisition of extra centrosomes, may exert their tumorigenicity, at least in part, through introduction of structural chromosome changes during mitotic arrest (Austin et al, 2008; Hernando et al, 2004; Keck et al, 2007; Menssen et al, 2007; Rajagopalan et al, 2004; Sotillo et al, 2007; Yang et al, 2008). Moreover, cancerassociated genetic changes which increase polyploidization or centrosome instability, such as inactivation of p53, inactivation of APC, or amplification of Aurora A, may indirectly introduce DNA damage during mitotic arrest by generating cells with extra chromosomes and/or centrosomes (Bunz et al, 2002; Meraldi et al, 2002; Rusan & Peifer, 2008). Furthermore, our data suggest that the cytotoxicity of antimitotic chemotherapeutics, such as the vinca alkaloids, the taxanes, and the newer mitotic kinesin inhibitors, may depend, at least in part, on their ability to provoke DNA damage during

mitotic arrest. This finding may have important clinical implications, because (1) tumors which are particularly susceptible to DNA damage during mitotic arrest may also be particularly sensitive to antimitotic agents, (2) strategies to maximize infliction of DNA damage during mitotic arrest may improve the efficacy of antimitotic therapy, and (3) induction of structural chromosome instability by antimitotic agents may affect the evolution of tumor aggressiveness in those cells which survive treatment.

Finally, our data describe a novel role for the p53 tumor suppressor: inhibition of structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest. Because there is, as discussed previously, considerable evidence that mitosis is frequently prolonged in human cancer cells (Therman & Kuhn, 1989; Yang et al, 2008), the DNA damage that may be acquired during such prolonged mitosis runs the risk of introducing potentially oncogenic structural chromosome instability into the cell genome. As such, a safeguard which evolved to prevent the propagation of this instability could be a valuable mechanism of tumor suppression. Our observation that p53 suppresses the propagation of structural chromosome instability following mitotic arrest suggests that p53 may indeed provide this safeguard.

#### **Future Directions**

Due to the novelty of this subject, there are many interesting and important questions which remained unanswered about the causes and consequences of DNA damage during mitotic arrest (Dalton et al, 2007; Quignon et al, 2007; Stevens et al, 2007). Although some experiments in our laboratory have begun to explore these questions, future work is needed. We anticipate that such work will focus on four main

areas: the mechanism responsible for DNA damage during mitotic arrest, whether DNA damage contributes to p53 activation following prolonged mitosis, the role of DNA damage in cancer-associated gene changes which provoke mitotic arrest, and the role of DNA damage in sensitivity to antimitotic chemotherapeutics.

#### What is the mechanism responsible for DNA damage during mitotic arrest?

As mentioned, multiple studies have now reported that prolonged mitotic arrest can elicit DNA breaks (Dalton et al, 2007; Quignon et al, 2007; Shi et al, 2008; Stevens et al, 2007). A question naturally arises from these studies: what mechanism creates double-stranded breaks during mitotic arrest? Neither our own preliminary data, nor published studies, has yet provided an answer to this question, so further investigation is needed. We envision four broad mechanistic areas which could be responsible, either singly or in combination, for DNA damage during mitotic arrest: hypercondensation, enzymatic DNA cleavage, oxidative stress, and decreased DNA repair.

Cytogeneticists have long-observed that mitotic chromosomes exhibit "hypercondensation" when exposed to lengthy treatments with antimitotic agents (Barch MJ, 1997). Although noted by these practitioners mainly because it can hinder the quality of karyotype analysis, chromosome hypercondensation has more recently become a subject of genuine biological interest. Indeed, disruption of many genes important for normal condensation of mitotic chromosomes, such as the condensins, cohesins, and chromokinesins, can produce chromosome hypercondensation in cultured cells and animal models (Belmont, 2006). For example, inactivation of the KIF4 chromokinesin protein induces chromosome hypercondensation, prolonged mitosis, DNA damage, and cancer susceptibility (Mazumdar et al, 2006; Mazumdar et al, 2004). Interestingly, the hypercondensation appears to be a primary effect of KIF4 inactivation, rather than a secondary consequence of prolonged mitosis, as it occurs in late prophase/early prometaphase (Mazumdar et al, 2004). These data led the authors to speculate that hypercondensation created through KIF4 depletion might directly induce DNA damage by imposing torsional strain on the DNA present in mitotic chromosomes (Mazumdar & Misteli, 2005). If true, such a mechanism of DNA damage induction might also be active during the hypercondensation which occurs during prolonged mitotic arrest. As such, it would be interesting to test whether prevention of hypercondensation during mitotic arrest would also prevent acquisition of DNA damage.

Mammalian cells possess many nucleases which produce DNA double-stranded breaks (Samejima & Earnshaw, 2005). Such nucleases are involved in a variety of cellular processes, including apoptotic DNA degradation, gene transcription, chromosome condensation, chromosome decatenation, DNA replication, DNA repair, and DNA recombination (Ju et al, 2006; Samejima & Earnshaw, 2005). Consequently, there are, in theory, many potential candidates for nucleases which might elicit DNA breaks during mitotic arrest. Topoisomerase II, for example, is an enzyme which transiently creates—and then religates—DNA double-stranded breaks, and its enzymatic activity is required for chromosome decatenation and condensation during all stages of mitosis (Kellner et al, 2002). Moreover, an association between topoisomerase II activity and the toxicity of prolonged mitotic arrest has been observed (Skladanowski et al, 2005; Vogel et al, 2005). Could mitotic arrest induce dysfunction of topoisomerase II in such a way as to interfere with religation, thereby producing DNA breaks? Preliminary

experiments in our laboratory indicated that siRNA-mediated knockdown of topoisomerase II $\alpha$  did not reduce  $\gamma$ -H2AX activation in nocodazole-arrested mitotic cells (data not shown). While this experiment is by no means an exhaustive test of this hypothesis, these data nonetheless argue against the role of topoisomerase II in the production of DNA damage during mitotic arrest.

Other classes of nucleases could also be considered. For example, while data presented in Chapter II indicate that DNA damage during mitotic arrest occurs independently of the commitment to apoptosis, there are nonetheless reports of reversible activation of apoptosis (Vaughan et al, 2002). Considered together with recent data from Gascoigne and Taylor, which suggest that a caspase-dependent apoptotic process may progressively compete with slow degradation of cyclin B during mitotic arrest (Gascoigne & Taylor, 2008), it is theoretically possible that progressive activation of a reversible apoptotic process-and an apoptotic nuclease-during mitotic arrest could produce DNA damage. If so, this putative nuclease would likely be caspase-independent, as we and others have found that DNA damage during mitotic arrest occurs independently of caspase activity (Dalton et al, 2007; Quignon et al, 2007; Stevens et al, 2007). Interestingly, gene therapy researchers have found evidence that efficient delivery of exogenous DNA to cell nuclei appears to be impeded by active nucleolytic activity in the cytoplasm (Pollard et al, 2001). Presumably, such nucleases would ordinarily be inhibited from damaging mitotic chromosomes, but could prolonged mitotic arrest lead to eventual deinhibition of this activity? Of course, many other scenarios in which nuclease activity could be responsible for DNA damage during mitotic arrest are also possible.

A third potential source of DNA damage during mitotic arrest is oxidative stress. Produced constantly by normal metabolism of the cell, reactive oxygen species (ROS) can inflict various kinds of damage to DNA, including base damages, single-strand breaks, and double-strand breaks (Lombard et al, 2005). There are three general ways in which increased DNA damage during mitotic arrest could result from oxidative stress. First, levels of reactive oxygen species could be elevated during mitotic arrest, thereby inflicting more damage to DNA than occurs during interphase or normal mitosis. Preliminary experiments testing this possibility yielded no measureable differences in ROS levels between mitotically-arrested and control cells (data not shown), arguing against this explanation. Second, mitotic chromosomes may undergo chromatin changes during mitotic arrest which increase their vulnerability to attack by ROS. Indeed, the nature of chromatin structure surrounding DNA can influence its vulnerability to damage by sources such as irradiation (Stenerlow et al, 2003). Thus, one interesting possibility would be to determine whether significant changes in either the chromatin structure or chromatin mass occur during prolonged mitotic arrest. A third way in which ROS might account for increased DNA damage during mitotic arrest is that, while the amount of ROS attack may not be not elevated, the repair of these "normal" levels of damage may be compromised. Indeed, as we shall see next, some evidence suggests that DNA repair may be impaired during mitosis.

Regardless of the initial source of DNA damage, the functionality of DNA repair is an obvious determinant of the consequences of the inflicted damage. Unfortunately, there is no consensus as to whether—or what—DNA repair pathways are active during mitosis. Some studies have reported inactive, or inefficient, DNA repair activity during
mitosis, while other studies have found normal levels of repair (Giulotto et al, 1978; Kato et al, 2008; Morrison & Rieder, 2004; Oleinick et al, 1984; Ross, 1989). However, unpublished data from our laboratory and others have shown that the activity of many DNA repair proteins is altered in a way that suggests their inactivation, as damage response and repair proteins which are normally recruited to sites of DNA damage in interphase fail to be similarly recruited in mitosis (data not shown and (Huang et al, 2005)). Thus, it would be interesting, first, to rigorously test whether—and what—DNA repair pathways are active during mitosis. Then, if repair is indeed inactive—or less active—during mitosis, could this explain the increase in DNA damage observed during mitotic arrest? Alternatively, if DNA repair does occur during mitosis, is it less accurate than in interphase? And could this help explain the increase in structural chromosome instability observed after mitotic arrest?

### Is DNA damage, or DNA damage signaling, the stimulus for p53 activation during mitotic arrest?

Another important question arising from these studies is whether—or to what extent—DNA damage directly contributes to the activation of p53 following mitotic arrest. While DNA damage is certainly a well-established trigger for p53 activation, clear evidence of DNA damage has not been found in all cells which nonetheless activate p53 after mitotic arrest (Aylon et al, 2006; Chan et al, 2008; Dalton et al, 2007). While these negative results do not rule out the presence of DNA damage, they do underscore the need to directly test the hypothesis that DNA damage is responsible for—or contributes to—p53 activation following mitotic arrest. It seems to us that there are two general

strategies to test this idea. First, one could attempt to selectively inhibit acquisition of DNA damage but not mitotic arrest, and then measure the resulting activation of p53. While this would certainly be the most definitive test of this hypothesis, it (1) necessitates identifying the mechanism responsible for the damage and (2) requires that the damage can actually be selectively inhibited. If, for instance, DNA damage acquired during mitotic is the result of normal ROS levels imposed on an intrinsically repair-deficient mitotic background, could this repair deficiency actually be reversed? Or, if the damage is due to intrinsic chromatin alterations which take place during mitotic arrest, could these alterations be reversed? Thus, the success of this strategy would depend largely on the nature of the DNA damage mechanism.

A second, more indirect test of this hypothesis would be to dissect the signaling pathway which activates p53. Is activation of p53 following mitotic arrest dependent on the p38 stress pathway, as has been suggested (Ganem & Pellman, 2007)? A recent report demonstrating p38-dependence of p53 activation in Chk1-depleted tetraploid HCT116 cells lends some support to this idea (Vitale et al, 2008). Or, are more canonical elements of the DNA damage response pathways responsible for the activation of p53? Is ATM required, as has been suggested (Tritarelli et al, 2004)? Or are multiple pathways involved? An especially interesting possibility is that inhibition of  $\gamma$ -H2AX alone might dampen, or prevent p53 activation. Although inactivation of H2AX does not diminish DNA damage-induced p53 activation in interphase cells (Kang et al, 2005), presumably due to the redundant recognition of DNA damage by other factors, it might in mitotic cells, as our own unpublished studies have yet to find DNA damage response factors which are recruited to mitotic  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci. In conclusion, though experimentally

challenging, testing the hypothesis of whether DNA damage is involved in p53 activation following mitotic arrest should lend important understanding to the nature of the p53dependent postmitotic arrest.

# Do cancer-associated causes of prolonged mitosis elicit DNA damage during mitotic arrest?

An important question concerning DNA damage during mitotic arrest is the physiologic-and pathophysiologic-relevance of this phenomenon. Do the sorts of defects which have been shown to provoke prolonged mitosis in human cancers, such as overexpression of Mad2, inactivation of Rb, inactivation of hCDC4, and supernumerary chromosomes and/or centrosomes, also provoke DNA damage during mitotic arrest (Hernando et al, 2004; Rajagopalan et al, 2004; Sotillo et al, 2007; Yang et al, 2008)? The study described in Chapters II provides evidence, albeit indirect, that spontaneous spindle defects can indeed provoke prolonged mitotic arrest and concurrent DNA damage. However, a definitive test of this possibility would be to track live cells containing reporters for DNA damage, spindle structure, and ploidy with timelapse videomicroscopy. Likewise, we have preliminary data that inactivation of hCDC4 does indeed cause elevated  $\gamma$ -H2AX in mitotic cells (data not shown), although further experiments would need to determine whether this increase in y-H2AX actually occurs during mitosis in hCDC4-/- cells. A similar approach could be applied to other cancerassociated changes such as overexpression of Mad2. Finally, it would be useful to determine whether this phenomenon occurs-and can be measured-in vivo. Does human tumor tissue contain abnormal mitotic figures with spontaneous elevation of  $\gamma$ -

H2AX? Does in vivo administration of antimitotic treatment induce  $\gamma$ -H2AX in mitotically-arrested cells? Do mitotically-arrested cells in Mad2-overexpressing mice exhibit increased  $\gamma$ -H2AX? Investigation of these questions would help to determine the extent of physiologic relevance of this phenomenon.

## Does DNA damage during mitotic arrest influence sensitivity to antimitotic chemotherapy?

Antimitotic drugs are a widely-used, and often successful, class of chemotherapeutic agents, but tumor development of drug resistance frequently hinders their efficacy (Jackson et al, 2007). Therefore, identification of tumor-specific factors which determine sensitivity should aid in the rational use of antimitotics, as well as help generate approaches to combination therapies of maximal efficacy. Because we have observed significant variation among cancer cell lines in the degree of DNA damage acquired during mitotic arrest, it would be interesting to determine whether the extent of this damage correlates to cellular sensitivity to antimitotic agents in different cell lines. Moreover, would the addition of a classical DNA damaging agent, such as irradiation, doxorubicin, or cisplatin, provide synergistic toxicity in cells which already acquire high amounts of DNA damage during mitotic arrest? Or would synergism instead be achieved in cells which otherwise acquire low amounts of DNA damage during mitotic arrest?

As is the case for the pursuance of other future directions discussed above, investigation of the role of DNA damage in sensitivity to antimitotics would be greatly facilitated by identification of the cause of DNA damage during mitotic arrest. If upon doing so, it appeared possible to inhibit this damage without inhibiting mitotic arrest,

then a direct test of the role of DNA damage in sensitivity to antimitotic chemotherapy might be possible. Moreover, mechanistic understanding of the cause of damage might also suggest ways to maximize its toxicity. For example, would inactivation of certain repair pathways, such as homologous recombination or nonhomologous end joining repair of double-stranded breaks, increase sensitivity to antimitotics? Indeed, this investigation could be carried out even without identification of the damage mechanism, although its identification might suggest more targeted approaches for manipulation.

Finally, given the results presented in Chapter III, it is worth asking whether—and in what circumstances—p53 status may affect the response to antimitotic agents. Although significant variation in the outcomes of the existing studies investigating this question might suggest a degree of unmanageable complexity, a rigorous in vivo test of the role of p53 in sensitivity to antimitotic agents has not been performed (Galmarini et al, 2001; Kienitz et al, 2005; Wahl et al, 1996; Wu & El-Diery, 1996; Yamaguchi et al, 2004). Thus, carefully-controlled studies investigating the role of p53 in antimitotic sensitivity of tumors with different genetic backgrounds should help identify in what circumstances, if any, p53 may be a useful predictor of treatment response.

In conclusion, numerous interesting and important questions concerning the causes and consequences of DNA damage during mitotic arrest remain. No doubt others will arise as more knowledge is gained. We believe that investigating these questions has the potential not only to expand our knowledge of this novel phenomenon, but also our understanding of aspects of cell biology, tumorigenesis, and cancer chemotherapy.



**Figure 1.** Working model for the consequences of DNA damage during mitotic arrest. Cells which experience mitotic arrest acquire DNA damage (red) which can manifest as potentially oncogenic structural chromosome instability in those cells which evade the p53-dependent postmitotic response. Adapted from Weaver et al. (Weaver & Cleveland, 2005).

### **Chapter V**

### References

W. Brian Dalton<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Digestive Diseases, Department of Medicine, <sup>2</sup>Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology Graduate Program, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30322 Andreassen PR, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB, Margolis RL (2001) Tetraploid state induces p53-dependent arrest of nontransformed mammalian cells in G1. *Mol Biol Cell* **12**(5): 1315-1328

Austin KM, Gupta ML, Coats SA, Tulpule A, Mostoslavsky G, Balazs AB, Mulligan RC, Daley G, Pellman D, Shimamura A (2008) Mitotic spindle destabilization and genomic instability in Shwachman-Diamond syndrome. *J Clin Invest* **118**(4): 1511-1518

Aylon Y, Michael D, Shmueli A, Yabuta N, Nojima H, Oren M (2006) A positive feedback loop between the p53 and Lats2 tumor suppressors prevents tetraploidization. *Genes Dev* **20**(19): 2687-2700

Babu JR, Jeganathan KB, Baker DJ, Wu X, Kang-Decker N, van Deursen JM (2003) Rae1 is an essential mitotic checkpoint regulator that cooperates with Bub3 to prevent chromosome missegregation. *J Cell Biol* **160**(3): 341-353

Baker DJ, Jeganathan KB, Cameron JD, Thompson M, Juneja S, Kopecka A, Kumar R, Jenkins RB, de Groen PC, Roche P, van Deursen JM (2004) BubR1 insufficiency causes early onset of aging-associated phenotypes and infertility in mice. *Nat Genet* **36**(7): 744-749

Baker DJ, Jeganathan KB, Malureanu L, Perez-Terzic C, Terzic A, van Deursen JM (2006) Early aging-associated phenotypes in Bub3/Rae1 haploinsufficient mice. *J Cell Biol* **172**(4): 529-540

Barch MJ KT, Spurbeck JL (1997) *The AGT Cytogenetics Laboratory Manual*, Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven.

Bellamy CO, Clarke AR, Wyllie AH, Harrison DJ (1997) p53 Deficiency in liver reduces local control of survival and proliferation, but does not affect apoptosis after DNA damage. *Faseb J* **11**(7): 591-599

Belmont AS (2006) Mitotic chromosome structure and condensation. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **18**(6): 632-638

Blagosklonny MV (2006) Prolonged mitosis versus tetraploid checkpoint: how p53 measures the duration of mitosis. *Cell Cycle* **5**(9): 971-975

Borel F, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB, Margolis RL (2002) Multiple centrosomes arise from tetraploidy checkpoint failure and mitotic centrosome clusters in p53 and RB pocket protein-compromised cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**(15): 9819-9824

Brito DA, Rieder CL (2006) Mitotic Checkpoint Slippage in Humans Occurs via CyclinB Destruction in the Presence of an Active Checkpoint. *Curr Biol* 16(12): 1194-1200

Bunz F, Dutriaux A, Lengauer C, Waldman T, Zhou S, Brown JP, Sedivy JM, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B (1998) Requirement for p53 and p21 to sustain G2 arrest after DNA damage. *Science* **282**(5393): 1497-1501

Bunz F, Fauth C, Speicher MR, Dutriaux A, Sedivy JM, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Lengauer C (2002) Targeted inactivation of p53 in human cells does not result in aneuploidy. *Cancer Res* **62**(4): 1129-1133

Cahill DP, da Costa LT, Carson-Walter EB, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Lengauer C (1999) Characterization of MAD2B and other mitotic spindle checkpoint genes. *Genomics* **58**(2): 181-187

Cahill DP, Lengauer C, Yu J, Riggins GJ, Willson JK, Markowitz SD, Kinzler KW,
Vogelstein B (1998) Mutations of mitotic checkpoint genes in human cancers. *Nature* **392**(6673): 300-303

Caserta TM, Smith AN, Gultice AD, Reedy MA, Brown TL (2003) Q-VD-OPh, a broad spectrum caspase inhibitor with potent antiapoptotic properties. *Apoptosis* **8**(4): 345-352

Castedo M, Coquelle A, Vivet S, Vitale I, Kauffmann A, Dessen P, Pequignot MO, Casares N, Valent A, Mouhamad S, Schmitt E, Modjtahedi N, Vainchenker W, Zitvogel L, Lazar V, Garrido C, Kroemer G (2006) Apoptosis regulation in tetraploid cancer cells. *Embo J* **25**(11): 2584-2595

Chan YW, On KF, Chan WM, Wong W, Siu HO, Hau PM, Poon RY (2008) The kinetics of p53 activation versus cyclin E accumulation underlies the relationship between the spindle-assembly checkpoint and the postmitotic checkpoint. *J Biol Chem* **0**(0): 0

Christopoulou L, Moore JD, Tyler-Smith C (2003) Over-expression of wild-type Securin leads to aneuploidy in human cells. *Cancer Lett* **202**(2): 213-218

Ciciarello M, Mangiacasale R, Casenghi M, Zaira Limongi M, D'Angelo M, Soddu S, Lavia P, Cundari E (2001) p53 displacement from centrosomes and p53-mediated G1 arrest following transient inhibition of the mitotic spindle. *J Biol Chem* **276**(22): 19205-19213

Cross SM, Sanchez CA, Morgan CA, Schimke MK, Ramel S, Idzerda RL, Raskind WH, Reid BJ (1995) A p53-dependent mouse spindle checkpoint. *Science* **267**(5202): 1353-1356

Dai W, Wang Q, Liu T, Swamy M, Fang Y, Xie S, Mahmood R, Yang YM, Xu M, Rao CV (2004) Slippage of mitotic arrest and enhanced tumor development in mice with BubR1 haploinsufficiency. *Cancer Res* **64**(2): 440-445

Dalton WB, Nandan MO, Moore RT, Yang VW (2007) Human cancer cells commonly acquire DNA damage during mitotic arrest. *Cancer Res* **67**(24): 11487-11492

Dalton WB, Yang VW (2007) Mitotic origins of chromosomal instability in colorectal cancer. *Current Colorectal Cancer Reports* **3**(2): 59-64

Di Leonardo A, Khan SH, Linke SP, Greco V, Seidita G, Wahl GM (1997) DNA rereplication in the presence of mitotic spindle inhibitors in human and mouse fibroblasts lacking either p53 or pRb function. *Cancer Res* **57**(6): 1013-1019

Duelli DM, Padilla-Nash HM, Berman D, Murphy KM, Ried T, Lazebnik Y (2007) A virus causes cancer by inducing massive chromosomal instability through cell fusion. *Curr Biol* **17**(5): 431-437

Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M, Ivanova EV, Bronson RT, Pellman D (2005) Cytokinesis
failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. *Nature*437(7061): 1043-1047

Galmarini CM, Falette N, Tabone E, Levrat C, Britten R, Voorzanger-Rousselot N, Roesch-Gateau O, Vanier-Viornery A, Puisieux A, Dumontet C (2001) Inactivation of wild-type p53 by a dominant negative mutant renders MCF-7 cells resistant to tubulinbinding agent cytotoxicity. *Br J Cancer* **85**(6): 902-908 Ganem NJ, Pellman D (2007) Limiting the proliferation of polyploid cells. *Cell* **131**(3): 437-440

Ganem NJ, Storchova Z, Pellman D (2007) Tetraploidy, aneuploidy and cancer. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* **17**(2): 157-162

Gascoigne KE, Taylor SS (2008) Cancer cells display profound intra- and interline variation following prolonged exposure to antimitotic drugs. *Cancer Cell* **14**(2): 111-122

Giulotto E, Mottura A, De Carli L, Nuzzo F (1978) DNA repair in UV-irradiated heteroploid cells at different phases of the cell cycle. *Exp Cell Res* **113**(2): 415-420

Guardavaccaro D, Frescas D, Dorrello NV, Peschiaroli A, Multani AS, Cardozo T, Lasorella A, Iavarone A, Chang S, Hernando E, Pagano M (2008) Control of chromosome stability by the beta-TrCP-REST-Mad2 axis. *Nature* **452**(7185)**:** 365-369

Hanks S, Coleman K, Reid S, Plaja A, Firth H, Fitzpatrick D, Kidd A, Mehes K, Nash R, Robin N, Shannon N, Tolmie J, Swansbury J, Irrthum A, Douglas J, Rahman N (2004) Constitutional aneuploidy and cancer predisposition caused by biallelic mutations in BUB1B. *Nat Genet* **36**(11): 1159-1161 Harvey M, Sands AT, Weiss RS, Hegi ME, Wiseman RW, Pantazis P, Giovanella BC, Tainsky MA, Bradley A, Donehower LA (1993) In vitro growth characteristics of embryo fibroblasts isolated from p53-deficient mice. *Oncogene* **8**(9): 2457-2467

Hastak K, Paul RK, Agarwal MK, Thakur VS, Amin AR, Agrawal S, Sramkoski RM, Jacobberger JW, Jackson MW, Stark GR, Agarwal ML (2008) DNA synthesis from unbalanced nucleotide pools causes limited DNA damage that triggers ATR-CHK1-dependent p53 activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**(17): 6314-6319

Hernando E, Nahle Z, Juan G, Diaz-Rodriguez E, Alaminos M, Hemann M, Michel L, Mittal V, Gerald W, Benezra R, Lowe SW, Cordon-Cardo C (2004) Rb inactivation promotes genomic instability by uncoupling cell cycle progression from mitotic control. *Nature* **430**(7001): 797-802

Holland AJ, Cleveland DW (2008) Beyond genetics: surprising determinants of cell fate in antitumor drugs. *Cancer Cell* **14**(2): 103-105

Huang X, Tran T, Zhang L, Hatcher R, Zhang P (2005) DNA damage-induced mitotic catastrophe is mediated by the Chk1-dependent mitotic exit DNA damage checkpoint. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**(4): 1065-1070

Ikeuchi T, Weinfeld H, Sandberg AA (1972) Chromosome pulverization in micronuclei induced by tritiated thymidine. *J Cell Biol* **52**(1): 97-104

Imai Y, Shiratori Y, Kato N, Inoue T, Omata M (1999) Mutational inactivation of mitotic checkpoint genes, hsMAD2 and hBUB1, is rare in sporadic digestive tract cancers. *Jpn J Cancer Res* **90**(8): 837-840

Iwanaga Y, Chi YH, Miyazato A, Sheleg S, Haller K, Peloponese JM, Jr., Li Y, Ward JM, Benezra R, Jeang KT (2007) Heterozygous deletion of mitotic arrest-deficient protein 1 (MAD1) increases the incidence of tumors in mice. *Cancer Res* **67**(1): 160-166

Jackson JR, Patrick DR, Dar MM, Huang PS (2007) Targeted anti-mitotic therapies: can we improve on tubulin agents? *Nat Rev Cancer* **7**(2): 107-117

Jeganathan K, Malureanu L, Baker DJ, Abraham SC, van Deursen JM (2007) Bub1 mediates cell death in response to chromosome missegregation and acts to suppress spontaneous tumorigenesis. *J Cell Biol* **179**(2): 255-267

Jeganathan KB, Baker DJ, van Deursen JM (2006) Securin associates with APCCdh1 in prometaphase but its destruction is delayed by Rae1 and Nup98 until the metaphase/anaphase transition. *Cell Cycle* **5**(4): 366-370

Jeong SJ, Shin HJ, Kim SJ, Ha GH, Cho BI, Baek KH, Kim CM, Lee CW (2004) Transcriptional abnormality of the hsMAD2 mitotic checkpoint gene is a potential link to hepatocellular carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res* **64**(23): 8666-8673 Jimenez GS, Khan SH, Stommel JM, Wahl GM (1999) p53 regulation by posttranslational modification and nuclear retention in response to diverse stresses. *Oncogene* **18**(53): 7656-7665

Jin DY, Spencer F, Jeang KT (1998) Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 oncoprotein Tax targets the human mitotic checkpoint protein MAD1. *Cell* **93**(1): 81-91

Jones S, Zhang X, Parsons DW, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, Mankoo P, Carter H, Kamiyama H, Jimeno A, Hong SM, Fu B, Lin MT, Calhoun ES, Kamiyama M, Walter K, Nikolskaya T, Nikolsky Y, Hartigan J, Smith DR, Hidalgo M, Leach SD, Klein AP, Jaffee EM, Goggins M, Maitra A, Iacobuzio-Donahue C, Eshleman JR, Kern SE, Hruban RH, Karchin R, Papadopoulos N, Parmigiani G, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW (2008) Core signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancers revealed by global genomic analyses. *Science* **321**(5897): 1801-1806

Jordan MA, Wilson L (2004) Microtubules as a target for anticancer drugs. *Nat Rev Cancer* **4**(4): 253-265

Ju BG, Lunyak VV, Perissi V, Garcia-Bassets I, Rose DW, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG (2006) A topoisomerase IIbeta-mediated dsDNA break required for regulated transcription. *Science* **312**(5781): 1798-1802

Kang J, Ferguson D, Song H, Bassing C, Eckersdorff M, Alt FW, Xu Y (2005) Functional interaction of H2AX, NBS1, and p53 in ATM-dependent DNA damage responses and tumor suppression. *Mol Cell Biol* **25**(2): 661-670

Kaplan KB, Burds AA, Swedlow JR, Bekir SS, Sorger PK, Nathke IS (2001) A role for the Adenomatous Polyposis Coli protein in chromosome segregation. *Nat Cell Biol* **3**(4): 429-432

Kasai T, Iwanaga Y, Iha H, Jeang KT (2002) Prevalent loss of mitotic spindle checkpoint in adult T-cell leukemia confers resistance to microtubule inhibitors. *J Biol Chem* **277**(7): 5187-5193

Kato H, Sandberg AA (1967) Chromosome pulverization in human binucleate cells following colcemid treatment. *J Cell Biol* **34**(1): 35-45

Kato TA, Okayasu R, Bedford JS (2008) Comparison of the induction and disappearance of DNA double strand breaks and gamma-H2AX foci after irradiation of chromosomes in G1-phase or in condensed metaphase cells. *Mutat Res* **639**(1-2): 108-112

Keck JM, Summers MK, Tedesco D, Ekholm-Reed S, Chuang LC, Jackson PK, Reed SI (2007) Cyclin E overexpression impairs progression through mitosis by inhibiting APC(Cdh1). *J Cell Biol* **178**(3): 371-385

Kellner U, Sehested M, Jensen PB, Gieseler F, Rudolph P (2002) Culprit and victim --DNA topoisomerase II. *Lancet Oncol* **3**(4): 235-243

Khan SH, Wahl GM (1998) p53 and pRb prevent rereplication in response to microtubule inhibitors by mediating a reversible G1 arrest. *Cancer Res* **58**(3): 396-401

Kienitz A, Vogel C, Morales I, Muller R, Bastians H (2005) Partial downregulation of MAD1 causes spindle checkpoint inactivation and aneuploidy, but does not confer resistance towards taxol. *Oncogene* **24**(26): 4301-4310

Kim KT, Ongusaha PP, Hong YK, Kurdistani SK, Nakamura M, Lu KP, Lee SW (2004)
Function of Drg1/Rit42 in p53-dependent mitotic spindle checkpoint. *J Biol Chem*279(37): 38597-38602

Kim S, Park SY, Yong H, Famulski JK, Chae S, Lee JH, Kang CM, Saya H, Chan GK, Cho H (2008) HBV X protein targets hBubR1, which induces dysregulation of the mitotic checkpoint. *Oncogene* **27**(24): 3457-3464

Koller E, Propp S, Zhang H, Zhao C, Xiao X, Chang M, Hirsch SA, Shepard PJ, Koo S, Murphy C, Glazer RI, Dean NM (2006) Use of a chemically modified antisense oligonucleotide library to identify and validate Eg5 (kinesin-like 1) as a target for antineoplastic drug development. *Cancer Res* **66**(4): 2059-2066 Kops GJ, Weaver BA, Cleveland DW (2005) On the road to cancer: aneuploidy and the mitotic checkpoint. *Nat Rev Cancer* **5**(10): 773-785

Lanni JS, Jacks T (1998) Characterization of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint following spindle disruption. *Mol Cell Biol* **18**(2): 1055-1064

Linke SP, Clarkin KC, Di Leonardo A, Tsou A, Wahl GM (1996) A reversible, p53dependent G0/G1 cell cycle arrest induced by ribonucleotide depletion in the absence of detectable DNA damage. *Genes Dev* **10**(8): 934-947

Lombard DB, Chua KF, Mostoslavsky R, Franco S, Gostissa M, Alt FW (2005) DNA repair, genome stability, and aging. *Cell* **120**(4): 497-512

Lu C, Zhu F, Cho YY, Tang F, Zykova T, Ma WY, Bode AM, Dong Z (2006) Cell apoptosis: requirement of H2AX in DNA ladder formation, but not for the activation of caspase-3. *Mol Cell* **23**(1): 121-132

Margolis RL, Lohez OD, Andreassen PR (2003) G1 tetraploidy checkpoint and the suppression of tumorigenesis. *J Cell Biochem* **88**(4): 673-683

Matoba S, Kang JG, Patino WD, Wragg A, Boehm M, Gavrilova O, Hurley PJ, Bunz F, Hwang PM (2006) p53 regulates mitochondrial respiration. *Science* **312**(5780): 1650-1653 Matsuura S, Matsumoto Y, Morishima K, Izumi H, Matsumoto H, Ito E, Tsutsui K, Kobayashi J, Tauchi H, Kajiwara Y, Hama S, Kurisu K, Tahara H, Oshimura M, Komatsu K, Ikeuchi T, Kajii T (2006) Monoallelic BUB1B mutations and defective mitotic-spindle checkpoint in seven families with premature chromatid separation (PCS) syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A* **140**(4): 358-367

Mazumdar M, Lee JH, Sengupta K, Ried T, Rane S, Misteli T (2006) Tumor formation via loss of a molecular motor protein. *Curr Biol* **16**(15): 1559-1564

Mazumdar M, Misteli T (2005) Chromokinesins: multitalented players in mitosis. *Trends Cell Biol* **15**(7): 349-355

Mazumdar M, Sundareshan S, Misteli T (2004) Human chromokinesin KIF4A functions in chromosome condensation and segregation. *J Cell Biol* **166**(5): 613-620

Menssen A, Epanchintsev A, Lodygin D, Rezaei N, Jung P, Verdoodt B, Diebold J, Hermeking H (2007) c-MYC delays prometaphase by direct transactivation of MAD2 and BubR1: identification of mechanisms underlying c-MYC-induced DNA damage and chromosomal instability. *Cell Cycle* **6**(3): 339-352

Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA (2002) Aurora-A overexpression reveals tetraploidization as a major route to centrosome amplification in p53-/- cells. *Embo J* **21**(4): 483-492

Michel LS, Liberal V, Chatterjee A, Kirchwegger R, Pasche B, Gerald W, Dobles M, Sorger PK, Murty VV, Benezra R (2001) MAD2 haplo-insufficiency causes premature anaphase and chromosome instability in mammalian cells. *Nature* **409**(6818): 355-359

Mikule K, Delaval B, Kaldis P, Jurcyzk A, Hergert P, Doxsey S (2007) Loss of centrosome integrity induces p38-p53-p21-dependent G1-S arrest. *Nat Cell Biol* **9**(2): 160-170

Minn AJ, Boise LH, Thompson CB (1996) Expression of Bcl-xL and loss of p53 can cooperate to overcome a cell cycle checkpoint induced by mitotic spindle damage. *Genes Dev* **10**(20): 2621-2631

Morrison C, Rieder CL (2004) Chromosome damage and progression into and through mitosis in vertebrates. *DNA Repair (Amst)* **3**(8-9): 1133-1139

Nomoto S, Haruki N, Takahashi T, Masuda A, Koshikawa T, Fujii Y, Osada H (1999) Search for in vivo somatic mutations in the mitotic checkpoint gene, hMAD1, in human lung cancers. *Oncogene* **18**(50): 7180-7183

Oleinick NL, Chiu SM, Friedman LR (1984) Gamma radiation as a probe of chromatin structure: damage to and repair of active chromatin in the metaphase chromosome. *Radiat Res* **98**(3): 629-641

Pantic M, Zimmermann S, El Daly H, Opitz OG, Popp S, Boukamp P, Martens UM (2006) Telomere dysfunction and loss of p53 cooperate in defective mitotic segregation of chromosomes in cancer cells. *Oncogene* **25**(32): 4413-4420

Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, Mankoo P, Carter H, Siu IM, Gallia GL, Olivi A, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, Keir S, Nikolskaya T, Nikolsky Y, Busam DA, Tekleab H, Diaz LA, Jr., Hartigan J, Smith DR, Strausberg RL, Marie SK, Shinjo SM, Yan H, Riggins GJ, Bigner DD, Karchin R, Papadopoulos N, Parmigiani G, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW (2008) An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. *Science* **321**(5897): 1807-1812

Pellman D (2007) Cell biology: aneuploidy and cancer. Nature 446(7131): 38-39

Pfleghaar K, Heubes S, Cox J, Stemmann O, Speicher MR (2005) Securin is not required for chromosomal stability in human cells. *PLoS Biol* **3**(12): e416

Pollard H, Toumaniantz G, Amos JL, Avet-Loiseau H, Guihard G, Behr JP, Escande D (2001) Ca2+-sensitive cytosolic nucleases prevent efficient delivery to the nucleus of injected plasmids. *J Gene Med* **3**(2): 153-164 Quignon F, Rozier L, Lachages AM, Bieth A, Simili M, Debatisse M (2007) Sustained mitotic block elicits DNA breaks: one-step alteration of ploidy and chromosome integrity in mammalian cells. *Oncogene* **26**(2): 165-172

Rajagopalan H, Jallepalli PV, Rago C, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B,
Lengauer C (2004) Inactivation of hCDC4 can cause chromosomal instability. *Nature*428(6978): 77-81

Rieder CL, Cole RW, Khodjakov A, Sluder G (1995) The checkpoint delaying anaphase in response to chromosome monoorientation is mediated by an inhibitory signal produced by unattached kinetochores. *J Cell Biol* **130**(4): 941-948

Rieder CL, Maiato H (2004) Stuck in division or passing through: what happens when cells cannot satisfy the spindle assembly checkpoint. *Dev Cell* **7**(5): 637-651

Rogakou EP, Boon C, Redon C, Bonner WM (1999) Megabase chromatin domains involved in DNA double-strand breaks in vivo. *J Cell Biol* **146**(5): 905-916

Rogakou EP, Pilch DR, Orr AH, Ivanova VS, Bonner WM (1998) DNA double-stranded breaks induce histone H2AX phosphorylation on serine 139. *J Biol Chem* **273**(10): 5858-5868

Roh M, Franco OE, Hayward SW, van der Meer R, Abdulkadir SA (2008) A role for polyploidy in the tumorigenicity of Pim-1-expressing human prostate and mammary epithelial cells. *PLoS ONE* **3**(7): e2572

Ross PM (1989) Cellular and adenovirus dl312 DNA metabolism in cycling or mitotic human cultures exposed to supralethal gamma radiation. *J Cell Biol* **109**(5): 1993-2002

Rusan NM, Peifer M (2008) Original CIN: reviewing roles for APC in chromosome instability. *J Cell Biol* **181**(5): 719-726

Samejima K, Earnshaw WC (2005) Trashing the genome: the role of nucleases during apoptosis. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **6**(9): 677-688

Sato M, Sekido Y, Horio Y, Takahashi M, Saito H, Minna JD, Shimokata K, Hasegawa Y (2000) Infrequent mutation of the hBUB1 and hBUBR1 genes in human lung cancer. *Jpn J Cancer Res* **91**(5): 504-509

Savage JR (1976) Classification and relationships of induced chromosomal structual changes. *J Med Genet* **13**(2): 103-122

Schaar BT, Chan GK, Maddox P, Salmon ED, Yen TJ (1997) CENP-E function at kinetochores is essential for chromosome alignment. *J Cell Biol* **139**(6): 1373-1382

Shi J, Orth JD, Mitchison T (2008) Cell type variation in responses to antimitotic drugs that target microtubules and kinesin-5. *Cancer Res* **68**(9): 3269-3276

Shi Q, King RW (2005) Chromosome nondisjunction yields tetraploid rather than aneuploid cells in human cell lines. *Nature* **437**(7061): 1038-1042

Shichiri M, Yoshinaga K, Hisatomi H, Sugihara K, Hirata Y (2002) Genetic and epigenetic inactivation of mitotic checkpoint genes hBUB1 and hBUBR1 and their relationship to survival. *Cancer Res* **62**(1): 13-17

Sisken JE, Bonner SV, Grasch SD (1982) The prolongation of mitotic stages in SV40transformed vs nontransformed human fibroblast cells. *J Cell Physiol* **113**(2): 219-223

Sisken JE, Bonner SV, Grasch SD, Powell DE, Donaldson ES (1985) Alterations in metaphase durations in cells derived from human tumours. *Cell Tissue Kinet* **18**(2): 137-146

Sjoblom T, Jones S, Wood LD, Parsons DW, Lin J, Barber TD, Mandelker D, Leary RJ, Ptak J, Silliman N, Szabo S, Buckhaults P, Farrell C, Meeh P, Markowitz SD, Willis J, Dawson D, Willson JK, Gazdar AF, Hartigan J, Wu L, Liu C, Parmigiani G, Park BH, Bachman KE, Papadopoulos N, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, Velculescu VE (2006) The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers. *Science* **314**(5797): 268-274 Skladanowski A, Come MG, Sabisz M, Escargueil AE, Larsen AK (2005) Downregulation of DNA topoisomerase IIalpha leads to prolonged cell cycle transit in G2 and early M phases and increased survival to microtubule-interacting agents. *Mol Pharmacol* **68**(3): 625-634

Sluder G, Thompson EA, Miller FJ, Hayes J, Rieder CL (1997) The checkpoint control for anaphase onset does not monitor excess numbers of spindle poles or bipolar spindle symmetry. *J Cell Sci* **110** (**Pt 4**): 421-429

Sotillo R, Hernando E, Diaz-Rodriguez E, Teruya-Feldstein J, Cordon-Cardo C, Lowe SW, Benezra R (2007) Mad2 overexpression promotes aneuploidy and tumorigenesis in mice. *Cancer Cell* **11**(1): 9-23

Sphyris N, Harrison DJ (2005) p53 deficiency exacerbates pleiotropic mitotic defects, changes in nuclearity and polyploidy in transdifferentiating pancreatic acinar cells. *Oncogene* **24**(13): 2184-2194

Srsen V, Gnadt N, Dammermann A, Merdes A (2006) Inhibition of centrosome protein assembly leads to p53-dependent exit from the cell cycle. *J Cell Biol* **174**(5): 625-630

Stenerlow B, Karlsson KH, Cooper B, Rydberg B (2003) Measurement of prompt DNA double-strand breaks in mammalian cells without including heat-labile sites: results for cells deficient in nonhomologous end joining. *Radiat Res* **159**(4): 502-510

Stevens JB, Liu G, Bremer SW, Ye KJ, Xu W, Xu J, Sun Y, Wu GS, Savasan S, Krawetz SA, Ye CJ, Heng HH (2007) Mitotic cell death by chromosome fragmentation. *Cancer Res* **67**(16): 7686-7694

Stewart ZA, Leach SD, Pietenpol JA (1999) p21(Waf1/Cip1) inhibition of cyclin E/Cdk2 activity prevents endoreduplication after mitotic spindle disruption. *Mol Cell Biol* **19**(1): 205-215

Stewenius Y, Gorunova L, Jonson T, Larsson N, Hoglund M, Mandahl N, Mertens F, Mitelman F, Gisselsson D (2005) Structural and numerical chromosome changes in colon cancer develop through telomere-mediated anaphase bridges, not through mitotic multipolarity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**(15): 5541-5546

Strobel T, Swanson L, Korsmeyer S, Cannistra SA (1996) BAX enhances paclitaxelinduced apoptosis through a p53-independent pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(24): 14094-14099

Stukenberg PT (2004) Triggering p53 after cytokinesis failure. *J Cell Biol* **165**(5): 607-608

Swanton C, Marani M, Pardo O, Warne PH, Kelly G, Sahai E, Elustondo F, Chang J, Temple J, Ahmed AA, Brenton JD, Downward J, Nicke B (2007) Regulators of mitotic arrest and ceramide metabolism are determinants of sensitivity to paclitaxel and other chemotherapeutic drugs. *Cancer cell* **11**(6): 498-512

Szeles A, Joussineau S, Lewensohn R, Lagercrantz S, Larsson C (2006) Evaluation of spectral karyotyping (SKY) in biodosimetry for the triage situation following gamma irradiation. *Int J Radiat Biol* **82**(2): 87-96

Tanudji M, Shoemaker J, L'Italien L, Russell L, Chin G, Schebye XM (2004) Gene silencing of CENP-E by small interfering RNA in HeLa cells leads to missegregation of chromosomes after a mitotic delay. *Mol Biol Cell* **15**(8): 3771-3781

Tao W, South VJ, Diehl RE, Davide JP, Sepp-Lorenzino L, Fraley ME, Arrington KL, Lobell RB (2007) An inhibitor of the kinesin spindle protein activates the intrinsic apoptotic pathway independently of p53 and de novo protein synthesis. *Mol Cell Biol* **27**(2): 689-698

Tao W, South VJ, Zhang Y, Davide JP, Farrell L, Kohl NE, Sepp-Lorenzino L, Lobell RB (2005) Induction of apoptosis by an inhibitor of the mitotic kinesin KSP requires both activation of the spindle assembly checkpoint and mitotic slippage. *Cancer Cell* **8**(1): 49-59

Therman E, Kuhn EM (1989) Mitotic modifications and aberrations in cancer. *Crit Rev Oncog* **1**(3): 293-305

Thibodeau A, Vincent M (1991) Monoclonal antibody CC-3 recognizes phosphoproteins in interphase and mitotic cells. *Exp Cell Res* **195**(1): 145-153

Thompson SL, Compton DA (2008) Examining the link between chromosomal instability and aneuploidy in human cells. *J Cell Biol* **180**(4): 665-672

Tighe A, Johnson VL, Albertella M, Taylor SS (2001) Aneuploid colon cancer cells have a robust spindle checkpoint. *EMBO Rep* **2**(7): 609-614

Tighe A, Johnson VL, Taylor SS (2004) Truncating APC mutations have dominant effects on proliferation, spindle checkpoint control, survival and chromosome stability. *J Cell Sci* **117**(Pt 26): 6339-6353

Toledo F, Wahl GM (2006) Regulating the p53 pathway: in vitro hypotheses, in vivo veritas. *Nat Rev Cancer* **6**(12): 909-923

Tritarelli A, Oricchio E, Ciciarello M, Mangiacasale R, Palena A, Lavia P, Soddu S, Cundari E (2004) p53 localization at centrosomes during mitosis and postmitotic checkpoint are ATM-dependent and require serine 15 phosphorylation. *Mol Biol Cell* **15**(8): 3751-3757

Tsukasaki K, Miller CW, Greenspun E, Eshaghian S, Kawabata H, Fujimoto T, Tomonaga M, Sawyers C, Said JW, Koeffler HP (2001) Mutations in the mitotic check point gene, MAD1L1, in human cancers. *Oncogene* **20**(25): 3301-3305

Uetake Y, Loncarek J, Nordberg JJ, English CN, La Terra S, Khodjakov A, Sluder G (2007) Cell cycle progression and de novo centriole assembly after centrosomal removal in untransformed human cells. *The Journal of cell biology* **176**(2): 173-182

Uetake Y, Sluder G (2004) Cell cycle progression after cleavage failure: mammalian somatic cells do not possess a "tetraploidy checkpoint". *J Cell Biol* **165**(5): 609-615

Uetake Y, Sluder G (2007) Cell-cycle progression without an intact microtuble cytoskeleton. *Curr Biol* **17**(23): 2081-2086

van Deursen JM (2007) Rb loss causes cancer by driving mitosis mad. *Cancer Cell* **11**(1): 1-3

van Gent DC, Hoeijmakers JH, Kanaar R (2001) Chromosomal stability and the DNA double-stranded break connection. *Nat Rev Genet* **2**(3): 196-206

Vaughan AT, Betti CJ, Villalobos MJ (2002) Surviving apoptosis. *Apoptosis* 7(2): 173-177

Vitale I, Senovilla L, Galluzzi L, Criollo A, Vivet S, Castedo M, Kroemer G (2008) Chk1 inhibition activates p53 through p38 MAPK in tetraploid cancer cells. *Cell Cycle* **7**(13): 1956-1961

Vogel C, Kienitz A, Hofmann I, Muller R, Bastians H (2004) Crosstalk of the mitotic spindle assembly checkpoint with p53 to prevent polyploidy. *Oncogene* **23**(41): 6845-6853

Vogel C, Kienitz A, Muller R, Bastians H (2005) The mitotic spindle checkpoint is a critical determinant for topoisomerase-based chemotherapy. *J Biol Chem* **280**(6): 4025-4028

von Hansemann D (1890) Ueber asymmetrische Zellheilteilung in epithelkrebsen und deren biologische bedeutung. *Virschows Arch Pathol Anat* **119:** 299-326

Vousden KH, Lane DP (2007) p53 in health and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **8**(4): 275-283

Vousden KH, Lu X (2002) Live or let die: the cell's response to p53. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2**(8): 594-604

Wahl AF, Donaldson KL, Fairchild C, Lee FY, Foster SA, Demers GW, Galloway DA (1996) Loss of normal p53 function confers sensitization to Taxol by increasing G2/M arrest and apoptosis. *Nat Med* **2**(1): 72-79

Wang X, Cheung HW, Chun AC, Jin DY, Wong YC (2008) Mitotic checkpoint defects in human cancers and their implications to chemotherapy. *Front Biosci* **13**: 2103-2114

Wang Z, Cummins JM, Shen D, Cahill DP, Jallepalli PV, Wang TL, Parsons DW,
Traverso G, Awad M, Silliman N, Ptak J, Szabo S, Willson JK, Markowitz SD, Goldberg
ML, Karess R, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE, Lengauer C (2004) Three
classes of genes mutated in colorectal cancers with chromosomal instability. *Cancer Res*64(9): 2998-3001

Weaver BA, Cleveland DW (2005) Decoding the links between mitosis, cancer, and chemotherapy: The mitotic checkpoint, adaptation, and cell death. *Cancer Cell* **8**(1): 7-12

Weaver BA, Cleveland DW (2006) Does aneuploidy cause cancer? Curr Opin Cell Biol

Weaver BA, Silk AD, Montagna C, Verdier-Pinard P, Cleveland DW (2007) Aneuploidy acts both oncogenically and as a tumor suppressor. *Cancer Cell* **11**(1): 25-36

Wong C, Stearns T (2005) Mammalian cells lack checkpoints for tetraploidy, aberrant centrosome number, and cytokinesis failure. *BMC Cell Biol* **6**(1): 6

Wood LD, Parsons DW, Jones S, Lin J, Sjoblom T, Leary RJ, Shen D, Boca SM, Barber T, Ptak J, Silliman N, Szabo S, Dezso Z, Ustyanksky V, Nikolskaya T, Nikolsky Y, Karchin R, Wilson PA, Kaminker JS, Zhang Z, Croshaw R, Willis J, Dawson D, Shipitsin M, Willson JK, Sukumar S, Polyak K, Park BH, Pethiyagoda CL, Pant PV, Ballinger DG, Sparks AB, Hartigan J, Smith DR, Suh E, Papadopoulos N, Buckhaults P, Markowitz SD, Parmigiani G, Kinzler KW, Velculescu VE, Vogelstein B (2007) The genomic landscapes of human breast and colorectal cancers. *Science* **318**(5853): 1108-1113

Woods CM, Zhu J, McQueney PA, Bollag D, Lazarides E (1995) Taxol-induced mitotic block triggers rapid onset of a p53-independent apoptotic pathway. *Mol Med* **1**(5): 506-526

Wu GS, El-Diery WS (1996) p53 and chemosensitivity. Nat Med 2(3): 255-256

Yamaguchi H, Chen J, Bhalla K, Wang HG (2004) Regulation of Bax activation and apoptotic response to microtubule-damaging agents by p53 transcription-dependent and - independent pathways. *J Biol Chem* **279**(38): 39431-39437

Yang Z, Loncarek J, Khodjakov A, Rieder CL (2008) Extra centrosomes and/or chromosomes prolong mitosis in human cells. *Nat Cell Biol* **0**(0): 0

Yao X, Abrieu A, Zheng Y, Sullivan KF, Cleveland DW (2000) CENP-E forms a link between attachment of spindle microtubules to kinetochores and the mitotic checkpoint. *Nat Cell Biol* **2**(8): 484-491

Yoon HS, Ghaleb AM, Nandan MO, Hisamuddin IM, Dalton WB, Yang VW (2005) Kruppel-like factor 4 prevents centrosome amplification following gamma-irradiationinduced DNA damage. *Oncogene* **24**(25): 4017-4025

Yuen KW, Desai A (2008) The wages of CIN. J Cell Biol 180(4): 661-663

Zhang H, Shi X, Zhang QJ, Hampong M, Paddon H, Wahyuningsih D, Pelech S (2002) Nocodazole-induced p53-dependent c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation reduces apoptosis in human colon carcinoma HCT116 cells. *J Biol Chem* **277**(46): 43648-43658

Zhuanzi W, Wenjian L, Dejuan Z, Wei W, Xigang J, Qingxiang G (2007) Chromatidtype aberrations following irradiation in G0 lymphocytes with heavy ions. *Mutat Res* **617**(1-2): 98-103